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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ATIZR

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China CITIC Bank International Limited
79/F, International Commerce Centre,
1 Austin Road West,

Kowloon,

Hong Kong

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited
20 Pedder Street, Central,
Hong Kong

AUDITOR

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
25th Floor, Wing On Centre,

111 Connaught Road Central,

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

6877

COMPANY'’S WEBSITE

www.clsapremium.com

note:

o As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 20 March 2024, Mr.
Ma Xufei has tendered his resignation as the Company's independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Company's remuneration
committee and the member of each of the Company’s audit committee,
corporate governance committee and nomination committee with
effect from 20 March 2024 and Mr. Ma Anyang has been appointed
as the Company’s independent non-executive Director, the chairman of
the Company’s remuneration committee and the member of each of
the Company’s audit committee, corporate governance committee and
nomination committee with effect from 21 March 2024.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YUAN Feng, aged 41, has been appointed as the deputy chief
executive officer of the Group in June 2019 and as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He is also a member of the Company’s
remuneration committee. Mr. Yuan is the senior vice president of
planning and finance department of CITIC Securities Company Limited
("CITIC Securities”), the controlling shareholder of CITIC Securities
International Company Limited, which is the controlling shareholder (as
defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) of the Company since April 2019
and the chief financial officer of CLSA group, which is a wholly-owned
subsidiary group of CITIC Securities.

Mr. Yuan previously worked as a senior accountant of finance
department of CITIC Corporation Limited from February 2015 to April
2019, and as an audit manager of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu from
July 2008 to July 2014. Mr. Yuan obtained his master’s degree in
world economics from University of International Relations in 2008,
and has been a member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since 2014.

Mr. CHUNG Cheuk Fan Marco, aged 45, is currently the Head of
Legal and Compliance of the Company and he has joined the CLSA
group as the Group Head of Legal in April 2021. Prior to joining
the CLSA group, Mr. Chung worked at Morgan Stanley between
November 2011 to April 2021 holding various positions including
Regional Head of Legal for the Investment Management Private Funds
business; Regional Head of Legal for the Investment Banking Mergers
and Acquisitions business; and the Regional Chief Operating Officer for

the Investment Management Private Funds business.

Prior to joining Morgan Stanley, Mr. Chung worked as a corporate
attorney at Slaughter and May's London and Hong Kong offices
between 2004 to 2011. Mr. Chung is a qualified attorney in England &
Wales, Hong Kong, Australia (New South Wales) and New Zealand. Mr.
Chung obtained a Bachelor of Laws and Commerce conjoint degree
from the University of Auckland.
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BOARD’S PROFILE
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Jiong, aged 55, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since 21 May 2018 and currently is the Chairman of the
Board, the chairman of the Company’s nomination committee and
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He concurrently
serves as a director of CITIC Securities Overseas Investment and CITIC
Securities International USA, LLC., as well as a chief treasury officer
of CITIC Securities. After Mr. Li joined CITIC Securities in 1996, he
had served as the manager of the international cooperation division
of the information centre of China International Trust Investment
Corporation (renamed to CITIC Group Corporation), manager of
development department of CITIC International Cooperation Co., Ltd.,
manager of the bond department, deputy general manager of the
treasury department and person-in-charge of the treasury department
of CITIC Securities. Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in International
Finance from the University of International Business and Economics in
1992 and a master's degree in Business Administration from Tsinghua
University in 2000.

Mr. XU Jianqgiang, aged 44, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since 21 May 2018 and currently is the chairman of the
Company's corporate governance committee and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He currently serves as a deputy head
of the equity derivatives business line of CITIC Securities, a deputy
chief executive officer and a chief operating officer of CLSA group.
After Mr. Xu joined CITIC Securities in August 2005, he had served
as an analyst of the research department, product development
manager of the equity derivatives business line, head of trading of
the equity derivatives business line and head of equity derivatives of
CITIC Securities International Company Limited, a head of the equity
derivatives and prime brokerage business, chief executive officer of
wealth management business and also the head of asset management
of CLSA group. Mr. Xu obtained a bachelor's degree in Mathematics
and Applied Mathematics from Peking University in 2003 and a
master’s degree in Mathematics from the University of British Columbia
in 2005.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WU Jianfeng, aged 49, joined the Group in June 2019. He is a
member of each of the Company’s audit committee and remuneration
committee. Mr. Wu has served as the lead engineer of Accertify since
9 December 2019. Mr. Wu served as a senior manager of information
technology department, an executive manager of technology center,
and as a deputy director of technology center and a director of
technology development department of the Shanghai Stock Exchange
from 2000 to 2014. Mr. Wu graduated from Tsinghua University and
obtained his bachelor's degree of Engineering in Computer Science
and Technology in 1993 and his doctorate degree of Engineering in
Computer System Architecture in 2000.

Ms. HU Zhaoxia, aged 73, joined the Group in June 2019. She is the
chairman of the Company’s audit committee and a member of each
of the Company’s corporate governance committee and nomination
committee. From 2012 to September 2015, Ms. Hu served as the
chief financial officer of (Zanhua (China) Equipment Leasing Co.,
Ltd.*) & (PE) REMEEBEAE. Prior to this, from October
1978 to January 2012, Ms. Hu worked as deputy director of the
accounting system division, deputy general manager and director of
the accounting division of the finance and accounting department of
the Head Office of Bank of China; deputy manager of the accounting
department and assistant general manager of Bank of China London
Branch; deputy general manager of Bank of China Sydney Branch;
chief financial officer of the retail banking business department of Bank
of China and senior supervisor of the office of the board of supervisors
of the Head Office of Bank of China. Ms. Hu graduated from Tianjin
University of Finance and Economics with major in Finance in 1978 and
obtained her senior accountant qualification, which was granted by the
committee of assessment of Bank of China in 1992.

* for identification purpose only
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BOARD’S PROFILE
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Mr. Ma Anyang, aged 63, Justice of the Peace of New South Wales
of Australia, joined the Group in March 2024. He is the chairman of
the Company’s remuneration committee and a member of each of the
Company's corporate governance committee, audit committee and
nomination committee. He holds a Master's degree in herbal medicine
and a Doctoral degree in medicine. He is an Australian registered
Chinese herbal medicine practitioner and registered Chinese herbal
dispenser. Additionally, Mr. Ma currently serves as the president of the
Chinese Medicine Industry Council of Australia Ltd (CMIC). He is a
member of the Australian mirror committee (HE031) of the Technical
Committee 249 Traditional Chinese Medicine (ISO/TC 249) of the
International Organization for Standardization. Furthermore, Mr. Ma
is also a reference group member of the Chinese Medicine Board of
Australia (CMBA) and an external advisory committee member of the
traditional Chinese medicine program of Western Sydney University
(WSU).
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Ms. LI Jiang joined the Group in 2022. Ms. Li has more than 30
years of experience in retail management of medicine and operations
of medicine and healthcare products manufacturing. Prior to joining
the Group, Ms. Li was the Vice General Manager of Beijing Tong Ren
Tang Chuan Chiong Enterprises Consultancy Co., Ltd. from 2000 to
2021, where she was responsible for the operation and management
of Chongwenmen Pharmaceutical Store of Tong Ren Tong. For the
period from 2005 to 2021, Ms. Li was also the Deputy Vice General
Manager of Beijing Tong Ren Tang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., where
she was responsible for supervision and management of Chinese
medicine factories. Ms. Li holds a Bachelor degree specializing in trade
and economic from Renmin University of China in 1987 and an EMBA
degree from The University of Texas at Arlington in 2005.

Mr. YU Shixin joined the Group in 2023 as a consultant. Mr. Yu
has more than 30 years of experience in import and export trading
business, supply chain management and operation management in
healthcare sector business. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yu served
as the Chief Executive Officer of China Communications Import and
Export Co., Ltd., the General Manager of China Merchants Bonded
Logistics Co., Ltd., the Deputy General Manager of China Merchants
Holdings (International) Company Limited (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 0144 and is subsequently known as
China Merchant Port Holdings Company Limited), and the General
Manager of China Merchants Hoi Tung Trading Company Limited
the Chief Executive Officer of China Merchants Health Care Holdings
Company Limited. Mr. Yu holds a master degree in International
Politics and Foreign Trade from the University of International Business
and Economics in 1991. Mr. Yu advises the Group on the business
development of the Healthcare Business of the Group.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. ZHANG Huanping joined the Group in 2023 as a consultant.
Mr. Zhang has over 40 years of experience in Chinese medicine
product production. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang was an
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of Beijing Tong Ren
Tang Chinese Medicine Company Limited (Stock Code: 3613) and
was mainly responsible for production. Mr. Zhang joined Beijing Tong
Ren Tang Group in 1979 and formerly served as the Deputy Manager
of Chinese medicine factory and medicine wine factory for Tong Ren
Tang, and an Executive Director of Tong Ren Tang Technologies Co.
Ltd. Mr. Zhang graduated from the Correspondence Institute of Party
School of the Central Committee of the Chinese Communist Party
majoring in economic management in 2000. He is a pharmacist-in-
charge conferred by Beijing Intermediate Professional Technical Titles
Evaluation Committee in 2002. He provides professional advice to the
Group on the ODM product development.
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STATEMENT FROM THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Dear shareholders:

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
CLSA Premium Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
collectively known as the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
audited annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024, business review as well as the prospect of our business.

Over the past year, the Company has faced a myriad of challenges
and opportunities that have shaped our operational landscape. It is
with pride that | report that, despite these obstacles, we have achieved
significant milestones that underscore our commitment to growth
and innovation. Our consolidated net profit have shown a healthy
increase of 15% compared to the previous year, largely driven by our
strategic investments in sales channel and expanded market outreach.
This growth is a testament to the hard work and dedication of our
employees, management team, and, most importantly, the enduring
support of our shareholders.

In the realm of product development, we launched new products
that have been well-received in the market. Each of these products
was designed in response to direct feedback from our customers,
showcasing our commitment to meeting their evolving needs. The
successful introduction of these products not only diversifies our
portfolio but also enhances our competitive edge in the industry. The
positive reception has reinforced our belief that innovation, when
paired with a strong understanding of customer needs, is paramount
to our success.

Moreover, we have made significant strides in improving our
operational efficiencies. By streamlining our supply chain processes,
we have reduced operational redundancy without compromising
the quality of our offerings. This has allowed us to maintain healthy
profit margins while ensuring that we can invest further in marketing,
distribution channels and research and development, which are
essentials for our long-term growth strategy.
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STATEMENT FROM THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

RIAT BAR B

And the most encouraging development is that the Company has
successfully resumed trading its shares on the Stock Exchange. As
disclosed in the Company’s announcements, trading of the Company’s
shares on the Stock Exchange was suspended on April 25, 2023,
due to issues related to Rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules. However, all
Resumption Guidance has been fulfilled, and the Company submitted
an application for the resumption of trading its shares. Trading of the
Company's shares on the Stock Exchange was successfully resumed on
July 19, 2024.

As we look to the future, we are excited about the potential that
lies ahead. Our strategic plan includes expanding our footprint into
emerging markets, where we see vast opportunities for growth. We
have identified key regions where our products can fill existing market
gaps, and we are already in discussions with potential partners who
share our vision of innovation and quality. This expansion will not only
drive revenue growth but also position us as a global player in our
industry.

Additionally, sustainability remains at the forefront of our agenda.
We recognize the growing importance of social responsibility
and environmental stewardship. Therefore, we are committed to
implementing sustainable practices across our operations. This includes
reducing our carbon footprint, enhancing our packaging materials,
and supporting community initiatives. We believe that by prioritizing
sustainability, we are not only contributing to the well-being of our
planet but are also aligning ourselves with the values of our customers
and investors.

As we navigate these transformative times within our business
landscape, we deeply appreciate the support we receive from all our
stakeholders. Your belief in our mission and your investment in the
Company empower us to pursue our vision with confidence. We
understand the importance of transparency and communication in
fostering these relationships, and we encourage you to continue
providing us with your feedback and insights.
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STATEMENT FROM THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

In conclusion, on behalf of the Board, | would like to reiterate
our gratitude for the trust you have placed in us. Your support
empowers us to innovate, grow, and deliver value to our customers
and communities. As we move forward, we are excited about the
possibilities that lie ahead and are committed to maintaining our focus
on delivering sustainable results. Together, we will strive to achieve new
heights and reinforce our position in the healthcare industry.

YUAN Feng
Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 17 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PG 2wk B oy i

The Board presents the audited consolidated results of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024, together with the audited
comparative figures for the corresponding year in 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Business review

The healthcare business industry in 2024 continued to evolve rapidly,
driven by advancements in technology, regulatory changes, and
shifting consumer expectations. This growth was attributed to several
factors, including the increasing demand for personalized healthcare
solutions, the heightened emphasis on the enforcement of healthcare
fraud enhances consumer confidence in purchasing products and the
significant mergers and acquisitions activities in the market.

Having navigated the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic and the
ongoing flu season, consumers in 2024 are more health-conscious
than ever. As a result, they are increasingly willing to invest in
healthcare products and services to prioritize their well-being and
maintain a healthy lifestyle.

China continues to be a leading indicator in the e-commerce sector,
boasting one of the largest populations of digital buyers globally.
Technology has also brought about changes to the sectors as
live streaming, tailor-made advertising by the artificial intelligent
technology, and the rapid courier services, the Group is expecting
a positive outcome in both the customer experience and also the
business profitability. Management believes there could be more
opportunities in the future in the sector.

In 2024, the Group successfully kept the expansion of its B2C model
by establishing a presence on several popular short-form video hosting
platforms in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). This expansion
resulted in approximately HK$40 million in revenue in the B2C business
for the year. In the upcoming year, our plan is to broaden the reach
of our popular products, including but not limited to various dietary
supplements, American ginseng slices, Arctic cod maw, Indonesian and
Malaysian bird's nests, by expanding to additional platforms.

Benefited from the above-mentioned strategies, the healthcare
business achieved promising results for the year 2024, with profit
before tax from the healthcare business amounting to over HK$10
million. Under the business models as mentioned above, the Group
had recorded the net profit of HK$11 million for the year 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Total income

The total income of the Group for the continuing operations was
approximately HK$102.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2024, when compared to approximately HK$199.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

A. Revenue from healthcare business

The revenue from healthcare business of the Group was
approximately HK$86.5 million for the the year ended 31
December 2024 when compared with HK$191.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The financial results demonstrate
that the healthcare business is both profitable and sustainable,
showcasing its solid foundation.

B. Other income

The other income for the continuing operations of the Group was
approximately HK$16.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2024 when compared with HK$8.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The increase is mainly due to the increase in interest income from
HK$7.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to HK$9.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2024, and the foreign
exchange gain of HK$6.8 million when compared to the HK$0.7
million due to the appreciation of USD against other currencies.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales for the continuing operations of the Group was
HK$52.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 when
compared to HK$151.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
which includes the cost of sales of the healthcare products. The change
is consistent with the drop in revenue during the year.

Total expenses

The total expense of the continuing operations of the Group excluding
the cost of sales was approximately HK$37.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2024, increased by approximately 11% from HK$34.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B PR E 2w b o B

Referral expenses and other charges

The referral expenses and other charges for the continuing operations
of the Group decreased to HK$2.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 from HK$3.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. The change is consistent to the change in revenue during the
year.

Depreciation

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment for the Group
decreased to approximately HK$0.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 from approximately HK$0.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. The depreciation expense has decreased as some
of the assets became fully depreciated in 2024.

Other operating expenses

Consistent with the growth of healthcare business, the other operating
expenses for the continuing operations of the Group increased by
approximately 9% to HK$31.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2024 from HK$28.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
This was mainly due to the increase in marketing, advertising and
promotion expenses, and personal postal articles tax for the continuing
operations for HK$2.6 million and HK$0.3 million respectively when
compared to that of the year ended 31 December 2023.

The rise in marketing, advertising and promotion expenses, and
personal postal articles tax corresponds to the increased level of activity
in the healthcare business.

Net profit

The healthcare business continues to prosper in 2024. The Group
recorded consolidated net profit of approximately HK$11.3 million, as
compared with the audited consolidated net profit of approximately
HK$9.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The net profit
was mainly attributable to the performance of healthcare business in
the year 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year under review, the operations of the Group were
financed principally by equity capital, cash generated by the Group's
business operations and cash and bank deposits.

As at 31 December 2024, cash and bank balances held by the Group
amounted to HK$205.2 million (2023: HK$222.4 million).

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio calculated on the basis of net debts (lease liabilities)
over the total shareholders’ equity as at 31 December 2024 was zero
(2023: zero).

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group generally financed its operations with internally generated
resources and funds. All other financing methods will be considered
as long as such methods are beneficial to the Group. Bank deposits
mainly are in HK$, US$, AUD and RMB.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

During the year under review, the Group recorded a net foreign
exchange gain of approximately HK$6.8 million (2023: net foreign
exchange loss of approximately HK$0.2 million). In addition, the Group
recorded a currency translation loss of approximately HK$6.9 million
(2023: currency translation loss of approximately HK$0.8 million),
mainly due to the year-end translation of net assets (denominated
in local currency) of the Australia and New Zealand subsidiaries, into
the Group’s reporting currency (HK dollar). The foreign currency risk is
managed proactively by regular reviews of the currency positions in the
basket of currency mix. To minimize the risk exposure, the Group has
a hedging strategy based on prevailing market conditions and working
capital requirements of subsidiaries.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year under review, the Group's capital structure consists of
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHE 2 5 am By M

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
DURING THE YEAR UNDER REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not have
any significant investments held, material acquisitions and disposals.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group’s remuneration policies are in line with the prevailing
market practices and are determined on the basis of performance and
experience of individual employees. The Group provides retirement
benefits in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the
place where the staff is employed. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group engaged a total number of 13 staff (including employees,
consultants and directors).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, there was no bank balance of the Group
used to secure the banking facilities (as at 31 December 2023: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the Group’s contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024
are set out in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements (the
“Notes”).

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated 15 July,
29 December 2024, 14 January, 28 January, 18 February and 11 March
2025 regarding the potential disposal of certain ordinary shares of the
Company by CITIC Securities International Company Limited, after the
Completion (as defined in the Company’s announcement dated 18
February 2025), Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Cayman) Limited became the
Company's shareholder holding of 40% of the issued shares of the
Company and CITIC Securities International Company Limited became
the Company's shareholder holding of 19.03% of the issued shares of
the Company.

Save as disclosed, the Directors are not aware of any significant event

requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

UPDATES ON THE DECISION OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE ON RULE 13.24 OF THE LISTING RULES

Reference is made to the Company’s announcements dated 13 April,
25 April, 17 May, 24 July, 24 October 2023, 24 January, 24 April and
18 July 2024 (the “Announcements”) in relation to, among others, the
suspension of trading in the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange.
Capitalised terms used herein shall have the same meanings as those
defined in the Announcements, unless otherwise specified.

As disclosed in the Announcements, trading in the Company’s shares
on the Stock Exchange had been suspended since 9:00 a.m. on
Tuesday, 25 April 2023 and resumed since 9:00 a.m. on Friday, 19 July
2024.

To the best knowledge of the Board, as at the date of this report, the
suspension of trading in the Company’s shares from 25 April 2023
to 18 July 2024 has not resulted in any significant adverse impact on
the business operations of the Group in any material respect and the
Group continues to carry on with its normal day-to-day operations.
The Board remains fully committed to the Company and will
continuously assess the impact on the business operations and financial
position of the Group, take appropriate measures and make further
announcement(s) as and when appropriate. The Group’s management
continues to strategically review the Group's structure, its existing
businesses and potential business opportunities from time to time
with the intention of improving the business operations and financial
position of the Group and complying with Rule 13.24 of the Listing
Rules.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS,
CAPITAL ASSETS AND BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

In the aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic and the on-going
influenza, personal well-being continues to be prioritized. People
are more health-conscious and inclined to allocate their resources
towards purchasing healthcare products as a means to safeguard their
health. The pandemic and the influenza have made huge impacts to
consumer’s value and lifestyle which has also shifted the dynamics in
the healthcare value chain globally. With the robust partnerships and
positive relationships with other stakeholders in the industry, the Group
is confident in the future sustainability of the Healthcare Business.

In 2025, the Group will endeavor to develop its Healthcare Business as
it did in 2024. The Group will take advantage of Hong Kong's unique
position as a global supply chain center and its strong relation with
the PRC. Together with our strong bonding with our business partners,
our experience in the healthcare industry and the usage of the artificial
intelligent technology, we will identify appropriate products globally
with local characteristics of each country for our target customers.

In the future, the Group targets to speed up the process for extending
its business via famous offline channels in the PRC and will launch of
its original design manufacturing (“ODM") products in the PRC and
Hong Kong.

After the extension of business via the famous channel in the PRC
having become mature, the Group will adopt that business model with
other offline domestic sales channels.

The ODM products will be sold through the established e-commerce
cross-border channels. It is also expected that the products will be
distributed in the Hong Kong market through various sales channels
such as online channels, self-platforms and offline distributors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As mentioned, the Group is in possession of all necessary wholesale
licenses. The Group, as obtained the wholesale dealer licence issued
by the Drug Office of the Department of Health in Hong Kong, is
planning to cooperate with the medicine enterprises in Japan and will
distribute the relevant medicine in its e-commerce sales channels. In
the meantime, the Group is planning to launch other ODM products
in its e-commerce sales channels, with an aim to expand its product
range.

The Group is also in negotiations with local famous chain stores for
cooperation. It is contemplated that a counter will be set up in the
offline stores, which will sell the Group’s products in the counter.

The Group plans to set up official accounts on popular social media
sites to promote its products. The Group plans to set up official
accounts on popular social media sites in Hong Kong to promote our
products locally. Additionally, given the Group’s success in leveraging
on some Key Opinion Leaders (also known as KOLs) to generate
revenue in the PRC, the Group plans to extend this business model in
Hong Kong to endorse and promote our products in the local market
soon.

With such efforts, the Group is confident in its success in the future
healthcare product market. With the rise of awareness of wellbeing
amongst people, the Company believes that it is on the right track of a
sustainable business with substance.
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The Board presents its report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in the Notes.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended 31
December 2024 by geographical and service/product segments are set
out in the Notes.

ANNUAL RESULTS

The annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in the section headed “Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income” of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the results and of the financial position
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements, prepared on the basis set
out in the Notes. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December

BET_A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

—EonE —E--fF T "fF “ZT-F “ETFF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT FAT FAT FHAT

Total income N k5] 102,821 201,488 45,854 11,765 11,861
- Continuing operations — B EK 102,821 199,683
- Discontinued operations —ERIHEE S - 1,805
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For the year ended 31 December

BHE+T-A=+—HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

—EME =4 BT -F B4 ZEZZEF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT FATT FAT FAET

Profit/(loss) before tax BiREER (518 12,589 11,587 (30,979) (57,912) (81,158)
— Continuing operations — B ER 12,589 14,575
- Discontinued operations — DRSS - (2,988)

Profit/(loss) for the year EREFH,/ (B8 11,338 9,842 (31,052) (56,542) (71,636)
- Continuing operations —FEREER 11,338 12,830
- Discontinued operations — BRI - (2,988)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) ER2 AL/ (F5%) 42%E

for the year 4,442 9,065 (37,957) (64,299) (57,956)
- Continuing operations —FHEREE 4,442 12,012
- Discontinued operations — BRI ETS - (2,947)

As at 31 December
®+=-B=+—H

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

“ECNE —“E2Cz-f B -fF “E-F E°E%FE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT FATT FAET FAET

Total assets BEERE 279,382 251,775 284,310 330,616 430,436

Total liabilities BER%E (35,075) (11,910) (53,510) (61,859) (97,380)

244,307 239,865 230,800 268,757 333,056

Total equity and liabilities prERKEE 279,382 251,775 284,310 330,616 430,436

Net current assets MEEEFE 244,230 239,477 229,955 263,146 321,925

Total assets less current liabilities BEERMSARE 244,307 239,865 230,800 274,997 336,633
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Business Review and Future Prospect

Since the listing of the Company’s shares (the “Share(s)”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 3
July 2013, the Company has been implementing its business plans
to accomplish its business objectives. A review of the business of the
Group during the year and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development are provided in the sections of “Statement from the
Deputy Chief Executive Officer” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis”.

Financial Key Performance Indicators

An analysis of the Group's performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the section of “Management
Discussion and Analysis”.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations
of the Group, some of which are inherent to its business and some
are affected by the external environment. The Group’s major risks are
summarized below.

(1) Financial risks

The principal financial risks inherent in the Group's business
are credit risk, market risk (including interest rate risk and
foreign currency risk) and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management objective is to enhance shareholder value while
retaining exposure within acceptable thresholds in response to
changes in markets. The Group has a robust risk management
system in place to identify, analyse, assess and manage risks.
Details of the aforesaid key risks and risk mitigation measures are
set out in the Notes.

(2) Macro-economic environment

The business environment can be impacted by unfavorable
macroeconomic shifts, such as rising geopolitical risks in Europe
and Asia and unpredictable monetary and fiscal policies. These
changes may have an impact on the Group's operating results.
Hence, it is crucial for the Group to effectively monitor these
macroeconomic changes and promptly adapt its operating
strategy and business plan to suit varying market conditions.
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3)

4)

(5)

Information technology systems

Any material disruption or slowdown of our IT systems, such as
system upgrade failures, system errors, viruses or cyber attacks
could cause data loss or operation interruption. Therefore, we
invest continuously in our IT systems so as to keep up with the
latest cyber security standard.

Global supply chain

The Group relies on global supply chains for our products.
Disruptions in the supply chain, such as trade disputes, natural
disasters, or pandemics, can lead to shortages, delays, or
increased costs. To mitigate the risks associated with global supply
chain disruptions, we have identified suppliers or manufacturers
in different regions to reduce dependence on a single source. This
helps to minimize the impact of disruptions in specific areas and
ensures a more resilient supply chain. We have also implemented
effective inventory management practices to optimize stock levels
and ensure an adequate supply of critical products.

Legal and compliance risks

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 6 August
2019, 24 January 2020 and 12 May 2020, the Company
obtained the injunction order and issued a writ of summons
against Banclogix System Co., Limited (“Banclogix”) in the High
Court of The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the
“High Court”). In November 2020, the three licensed subsidiaries
of the Company, namely CA Premium International (HK) Limited
(formerly known as CLSA Premium International (HK) Limited,
w.e.f. 7 March 2025), CA Premium Pty Limited (formerly known
as CLSA Premium Pty Limited, w.e.f. 28 February 2025) and
CA Premium New Zealand Limited (formerly known as CLSA
Premium New Zealand Limited, w.e.f. 28 February 2025), have
joined the Company as plaintiffs to claim against Banclogix
for, among others, repudiatory breach by Banclogix of the IT
Service Agreement entered into with Banclogix on 28 December
2018 (“IT Service Agreement”) and other costs and damages
associated with such breach. The Company received a writ of
summons together with an indorsement of claim dated 6 May
2020 issued in the High Court by Banclogix against the Company.
Banclogix claims against the Company for, among others, alleged
repudiatory breach of the IT Service Agreement and entitlement
to certain fees therein.
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These two actions with Banclogix as mentioned above will be
heard by the court together and the trial has been fixed for
January 2026. The Board considers that no provision is required at
this stage of the proceedings as the legal adviser of the Company
is cautiously optimistic about the outcome of the two cases with
Banclogix.

Further, our businesses may be subject to change of laws and
regulations, tightening of regulatory compliance requirements
and practices of the regulators which are out of our control.

The above is not intended to be an exhaustive list of all principal
risks and uncertainties faced by the Group. These may change
over time as new risks and uncertainties emerge and others
cease to be of concern. The Directors will constantly evaluate
the Group'’s business objectives and may change or modify plans
against the changing market condition to avert or minimise the
risks so as to attain sustainable business growth of the Group.

Environmental Policy and Performance

We are committed to protect the environment by introducing a green
policy to enhance the awareness of environmental protection among
staff. The Group has implemented internal recycling programme for
office consumables such as toner cartridges and paper to minimise the
operation impact on the environment and natural resources.

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in offices
and branch premises where applicable, such as taking initiatives to
reduce paper usage by encouraging the use of websites and online
version of corporate communications. As regards reduction of power
consumption, we have a policy that lighting, air-conditioners and office
equipment shall be turned off when not in use.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements. The Group has been allocating resources to ensure the
Group’s ongoing compliance with the updated applicable rules and
regulations. During the reporting period, the Group had complied
with the laws, regulations and regulatory requirements of the places
where the Group operates in all material respects including the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
relevant rules, regulations and guidelines of the regulatory authorities.
The Group had maintained all necessary licences for its businesses
throughout the reporting period.

Relationships with key stakeholders

The Group's success also lies on the support from key stakeholders,
including employees, customers, bankers, service providers and
shareholders. Thus, the Group maintains close relationship with our
stakeholders.

Employees

The Group treasures our employees as the most important and
valuable assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resources management is to reward and recognise our employees by
providing a competitive remuneration package, appropriate incentives,
and opportunities within the Group for career advancement.

The employees are paid a fixed salary and may be granted other
allowances based on their position. In addition, discretionary bonuses
may also be awarded to our employees based on the employee’s
performance. We conduct regular appraisals to ensure our employees
receive feedback on their performance and discuss with them on their
needs.
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Customers

The Group is committed to provide excellent services to our customers
with a view to maintaining steady business and asset growth as well as
long term profitability.

To facilitate the Group's business plan and development of the
healthcare business, the Group would enlarge the customers base by
using different approaches, such as setting up the e-commerce stores
and extending the sales channels in the PRC.

Besides, the Group will keep recruiting experienced and talented
personnel with relevant experience and knowledge to strengthen the
Group'’s business.

Bankers

The Group has maintained excellent relationship with our bankers and
we are able to obtain funds from our bankers as and when necessary.

Service Providers

The Group's key service providers comprise system and equipment
vendors, external consultants who provide professional services, and
other business partners who provide value-added services to the
Group.

Shareholders

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance corporate
value to our shareholders. Description of the shareholders’ rights
and our investor relations can be found in the section of “Corporate
Governance Report”.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the Company's corporate governance practices is set
out in the Corporate Governance Report contained in this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the
Notes.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company's share capital during the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in the Notes and the section headed
"Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year
under review are set out in the section of “Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity”.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the
share premium account and retained earnings of the Company are
distributable to the Company’s shareholders subject to the provisions
of the Company’s memorandum and articles of association and
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As at 31 December 2024, in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company's reserves available for distribution to the Company’s
shareholders were approximately HK$74 million (2023: approximately
HK$63 million).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The dividend payout ratio
shall be determined or recommended, as appropriate, by the Board
at its absolute discretion after taking into account of the operating
results, cash flow, financial condition and capital requirements of the
Group, and subject to:

e the Company’s articles of association;

e the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of the
Cayman Islands; and

e any other applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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The Company seeks to maintain a balance between meeting
shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management with a
sustainable dividend policy. The Company’s dividend policy aims to
allow our shareholders to participate in the Company's profit and
for the Company to retain adequate reserves for the Group's future
growth.

The payment and the amount of dividends (if any) will depend on the
Group's result of operations, cash flows, financial position, working
capital requirements, future expansion plans, general economic
conditions, future prospects, statutory and regulatory restrictions
on the payment of dividends by the Group, and other factors that
the Company may consider relevant. The Company does not have
any predetermined dividend distribution proportion or distribution
ratio. Any future declarations of dividends may or may not reflect
the Company’s historical declarations of dividends and will be at the
discretion of the Directors taking into account the aforesaid factors.

Any payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the constitutional
documents, which indicate that dividends may be declared and paid
out of the profits, realised or unrealised, or from any reserves set aside
from profits. With the sanction of an ordinary resolution, dividends
may also be declared and paid out of the share premium account or
any other fund or account which can be authorised for this purpose in
accordance with the relevant law.

There can be no assurance that dividends of any amount will be
declared or distributed in any year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers,
in terms of the realized revenue from customers, accounted for 52%
of the total revenue for the year, while the sales to the Group’s largest
customer accounted for 28% of the total revenue for the year. The
purchase from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 99% of
the total purchase for the year, while the purchase from the Group'’s
largest supplier accounted for 75% of the total purchase for the year.
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At no time during the year have the Directors, or any of their
associates, or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the number of issued Shares) had any
interest in these major customers and suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits scheme for the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out in the Notes.

DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this

report, the Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yuan Feng (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chung Cheuk Fan Marco

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Jiong (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Jiangiang

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Jianfeng
Ms. Hu Zhaoxia
Mr. Ma Anyang
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In accordance with article 84 of the Company’s articles of association,
one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation but are
eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company. Any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting and annual general meeting of the Company
respectively, and shall then be eligible for re-election pursuant to article
83(3) of the Company’s articles of association.

In accordance with the Company's articles of association, Directors,
who shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Details could be
referred to the circular which will be despatched to the Company's
shareholders in April 2025.

Further, each of the independent non-executive Directors has
confirmed his/her independence of the Company and the Company
considers each of them to be independent in accordance with the
guidelines of assessing independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors have entered into any service contract with any
member of the Group which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section of “Related Party Transactions and
Balances” in the Notes, no transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which any of
the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in
which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during the
year or at the end of the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in the Notes.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the sections of “Interests and Short Positions
of Directors and Chief Executive in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” and “Share Option Scheme” below, at no time during the
year or at the end of the year has been/was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Company’s Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, subject to the
applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they or any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of
their duty in their offices. Such permitted indemnity provision has been
in force throughout the reporting period. The Company has arranged
appropriate directors’” and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors and their respective
associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) had any business or
interest in a business which competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Company's share option scheme as disclosed below,
no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing Shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares were
entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end
of the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company does not adopt a new share option scheme since the
last share option scheme (the “Scheme") adopted on 3 June 2013.

Since year 2023, there is no more exercisable share options and no
more share options could be granted on or after 2 July 2023 under the
Scheme.

Save as disclosed, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors,
chief executive, deputy chief executive, substantial shareholders of the
Company or their respective associates (as defined under the Listing
Rules) had any right to subscribe for the Company’ shares under the
Scheme.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors nor the Company’s
chief executive had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong, the “SFO") (i) which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be recorded in the register as referred to therein; or (i)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) contained in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2024, so far as the Directors and the Company’s
chief executive are aware, other than the interests and short positions
of the Directors and the Company’s chief executive as disclosed, the
following persons had interests or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
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the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to

the Company and the Stock Exchange:

Name

0

Capacity
&1

Number of shares/

AR RFTRERI RE -

Approximate

CITIC Securities International
Company Limited

REEFERERA

CITIC Securities Company Limited

REAHFRHERAT

KVB Holdings Limited

Li Zhi Da
FHE

Calypso International Investment
Co., Limited

Hainan Province Cihang Foundation
BELENAGESE

Cihang Sino-Western Cultural and
Educational Exchange Foundation
Limited

EMRAAXBRAETE
BRAE

Beneficial owner

i

@A A

Interests of controlled
corporation

RERZEER

Beneficial owner

BmEBA
Interests of controlled
corporation

RERZEER

Beneficial owner

i

@A A

Interests of controlled
corporation

RERZEER

Interests of controlled
corporation

RERZEER

underlying shares held % of the
FRiZIR1D /HRRARRID B B number of
Derivative issued shares

Shares interests Total LERITRHN

iR TR e YEMAE AL
1,200,310,001 - 1,200,310,001 59.03%
1,200,310,001 - 1,200,310,001 59.03%
300,000,000 - 300,000,000 14.75%
300,000,000 - 300,000,000 14.75%
106,355,000 - 106,355,000 5.23%
106,355,000 - 106,355,000 5.23%
106,355,000 - 106,355,000 5.23%
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notes:

Save

CITIC Securities International Company Limited (“CSI") beneficially owns
1,200,310,001 Shares. As CSl is wholly and beneficially owned by CITIC
Securities Company Limited (“CITIC Securities”), by virtue of the SFO,
CITIC Securities was deemed to be interested in those Shares held by CSI.

KVB Holdings Limited (“KHL" formerly known as “KVB Kunlun Holdings
Limited”) beneficially owns 300,000,000 Shares. KHL is held 75% of
shares by Mr. Li Zhi Da (“Mr. Li"). By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Li was deemed
to be interested in those Shares held by KHL.

Calypso International Investment Co., Limited was a wholly owned
subsidiary of JBRURERE (£8) BRAE], which was in turn wholly
owned by HNA Group Co., Ltd. HNA Group Co., Ltd. was held as to
70% by Hainan Traffic Administration Holding Co., Ltd. Hainan Traffic
Administration Holding Co., Ltd. was in turn held as to 50% by Sheng
Tang Development (Yangpu) Co., Ltd. Sheng Tang Development (Yangpu)
Co., Ltd. was held as to 65% by Hainan Province Cihang Foundation and
35% by Tang Dynasty Development Co. Ltd. which was in turn 98% held
by Pan-American Aviation Holding Company, which was wholly owned
by Cihang Sino-Western Cultural and Educational Exchange Foundation
Limited. Cihang Sino-Western Cultural and Educational Exchange
Foundation Limited and Hainan Province Cihang Foundation were
deemed under the SFO to be interested in entire 106,355,000 ordinary
shares of the Company held by Calypso International Investment Co.,
Limited.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, there was no other

person (other than the Directors and the Company’s chief executive)

who

had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying shares

of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company

under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,

or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company under section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed, no contract of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which any member of the Group was a party and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year 2024.

Save as disclosed, no contract of significance (including provision
of services) between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisted during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are disclosed in the Notes. Certain
of these transactions also constitute continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules, but all of them are fully exempted from the
requirements to obtains shareholders’ approval, annual review and
all disclosure requirements as pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
HETWRE

*CIH’J

PRFFIRBEE N ZEBERAME AR WEET L
HAEBERBBEEARBEARTESTNHFER
HEBEEAEEAEDEMN T _NEFRFD
RAEMZERN -

PRETIREE N ARABHEEMNE AR HEE

KRERNEEAMNBARDLEITIINBEES

TME+ZAZ=+—HLEFERDABRZE
a1 (BEEHAERT) -

MEE = n\’]

FROBEMEERKEERAT 2B HERE
REBDEBMI USTBEEREN
RN T 32 5

AEESE_S_MNFE+_RA=+—HLEE
ZEREBMAORZMRERWE -BOZERXS
TR LETRABBTZHERERS  HERE
LEHRABUAATOHRNRE  ZEXHBIED

HRREBTHNERRMLE - FEBRZEER
PREWBERTE -

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED % —JU4E#

37



38

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
HE WS

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

Save and except for the legal actions as disclosed during the reporting
period, the Group did not have any material litigation or arbitration.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS DURING
THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group did not have any material acquisitions, disposals or asset
reorganizations during the reporting period.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

As advised by Mr. Wu Jianfeng, one of the Company’s independent
non-executive Directors, that Accertify, where he serves as the Chief
Engineer, a subsidiary of American Express Company (listed on the
New York Stock Exchange with stock code: AXP), was spun off and is
now operating independently as of 1 May 2024.

The director service agreements entered into between Mr. Li Jiong, Mr.
Xu Jiangiang, and the Company were renewed on 21 May 2024. The
term of service is three years and is subject to rotational retirements
under the Company’s articles of association. Mr. Li Jiong and Mr. Xu
Jiangiang are entitled to receive a remuneration of HK$120,000 per
annum. However, on 10 March 2023, the Company received notices
from Mr. Li Jiong, Mr. Xu Jiangiang, and Mr. Yuan Feng, respectively,
stating their intention to waive the director's fee. The director’s fee
for Mr. Li Jiong and Mr. Xu Jiangiang is HK$120,000 per annum, and
for Mr. Yuan Feng is HK$20,000 per month. These waivers have been
effective from 1 April 2023 until the termination of their appointment
as the Company’s non-Executive Director/Executive Director.

With effect from 30 September 2024, both Mr. Yuan and the Group
agreed to waive for his annual remuneration till the termination of his
appointment as the Company’s deputy Chief Executive Officer.

The basis for determining the Directors’” emoluments (including bonus
payments) remained unchanged during the year 2024.

Save as disclosed, during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
up to the date of this report, there were no other changes to the
Directors’ information that are required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital as required under the Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 has been audited by BDO Limited, who will retire and
being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment as auditor at the
Company's forthcoming annual general meeting.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Company established an audit committee (the "Audit
Committee”) on 18 December 2012 with written terms of reference
in compliance with the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Hu Zhaoxia,
Mr. Wu Jianfeng and Mr. Ma Anyang. Ms. Hu Zhaoxia is the chairman
of the Audit Committee.
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The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year to review (i) the
annual and interim results and the accompanying auditor’s reports, (ii)
the accounting policies and practices adopted by the Company, and (iii)
the financial reporting matters, risk management and internal control
systems of the Company.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group's audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 and

submitted its views to the Board.

On behalf of the Board

Yuan Feng
Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 17 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CLSA Premium Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the "Group”) is committed to high standards of corporate governance,
as it believes that an effective corporate governance framework
is fundamental to promoting and safeguarding interests of its
shareholders and other stakeholders and enhancing shareholder value.
It has continued and will continue to identify and adopt the best

corporate governance practices appropriate to the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODES

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in Appendix C1
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in a
whole year of 2024. The Board will continue to review and monitor the
Company’s corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with
the Code and the application of the principles as mentioned in Code.
The Company had adopted certain policies to maintain higher level of
compliance with the Codes throughout the year 2024 and to report on
whether any non-compliance with the Codes, if any, was fully disclosed
and explained in this report. The Company’s corporate governance
system has been reviewed by the corporate governance committee
annually. The Board believes that the commitment of high-standard
corporate governance will provide long-term value and maximised
returns to the Company’s shareholders (the “Shareholder(s)”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The principal objective of the Company is to enhance long-term total
return for the Shareholders.

The Board is responsible for the formulation of strategies and
policies, including an oversight of the management. The Company's
management is responsible for the Company’s daily operations under
the leadership of the Deputy Chief Executive Officer.
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Up to the date of this report, the Board is comprised of seven members
comprising two executive Directors (Mr. Yuan Feng as Deputy Chief
Executive Officer and Mr. Chung Cheuk Fan Marco), two non-executive
Directors (Mr. Li Jiong as the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Xu
Jiangiang) and three independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Wu
Jianfeng, Ms. Hu Zhaoxia and Mr. Ma Anyang). Throughout the year,
the Company has fulfilled the requirement of rules 3.10 and 3.10A
of the Listing Rules that (i) at least three independent non-executive
directors; (ii) at least one of the independent non-executive directors
must have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise; and (i) the number of
independent non-executive Directors on the Board meets the one-third
requirement.

Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for a specific term, and his term of office is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Company's articles of association and the Listing Rules. For all non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors, the
term of them has been fixed for 3 years and they are also subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Company'’s articles of association and the Listing Rules.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
material/relevant relationships) among members of the Board.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section of
“Board’s Profile” in this annual report and on the Company's website.
A list setting out the names of the Directors and their roles and
functions is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

Each Director has disclosed to the Company, if any, in a timely manner
of any change, the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments. All
such changes, if any, during the year and up to the date of this report
have been disclosed in the section of “Directors’ Report” in this annual
report.
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£ I FE Hx
BB RS
The Board of the Company are set out below: KABEEEMEHINNT !
Committee
ZE8g
Length Corporate
of tenure Audit Nomination = Remuneration Governance
Name of Directors (Year) Committee Committee Committee Committee
EEHL 28 (F) BRZEY R4%ZEE hZEe GEELREET
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Yuan Feng (Deputy Chief — RIE%HE 5
Executive Officer) (BT EAEZ) Member 5% &
Mr. Chung Cheuk Fan Marco S22 Epsc 4 3
Non-executive Directors  JFH{TES
Mr. Li Jiong (Chairman) FALE (FE) 6 Chairman =&
Mr. Xu Jiangiang FRBAE 6 Chairman &
Independent BiEHITESR
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wu Jianfeng gk 5 Member I8 Member B &
Ms. Hu Zhaoxia HEEL T 5 Chairman £J& Member 8 Member 52
Mr. Ma Anyang BLBLE 1 Member 58 Member 5,8 Chairman £/ Member 5,8
INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE BIFERITEEMNEILY

DIRECTORS

In determining the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, the Board has followed the requirements as set out in the
Listing Rules. The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation,
the Company is of the view that all the independent non-executive
Directors have met the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers that they are independent.
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TEENEIM -ARFAELKRISLEILIF
HITESRBLHRUEBIIENREFELH
EREBIMHNFTFERI - REBERR £
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Since 27 June 2019, Mr. Li Jiong has
been appointed as the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Yuan Feng has
been appointed as the Deputy Chief Executive Officer. Following the
resignation of the Company’s chief executive officer on 28 July 2019,
Mr. Yuan Feng has assumed the position and performed the duty of
the chief executive officer.

The Board will keep reviewing the current structure of the Board from
time to time. The Board is also identifying a candidate with suitable
knowledge, skills and experience, and will make appointment to fill the
vacancy of chief executive officer as and when appropriate.

RE-ELECTION OF RETIRING DIRECTORS

Pursuant to article 84 of the Company’s articles of association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director, including those appointed
for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. All the retiring Directors shall be eligible for
re-election. Pursuant to article 83(3) of the Company's articles of
association, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office until the first general meeting of Members after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting.

In accordance with above mentioned, Directors, who shall retire from
office at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election.

ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly. During the year 2024, four regular Board
meetings were held in which two of the regular Board meetings were
for the approval of the Company’s interim and annual results. Notices
for regular Board meetings were given to all Directors at least 14 days
prior to the meetings. Between scheduled meetings, the Company’s
senior management, from time to time, meets with Directors to
discuss the Group's businesses. In addition, Directors have full access
to information on the Group and independent professional advice
whenever deemed necessary by the Directors.
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The attendance of each of the Directors at the general meetings HEZWR _E_NFEHAMEHEMNKREARS (8
(included annual general meeting), Board meetings and meetings of fERFBEFEAE)  BEEFT S %EZ%V%E S
the audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee ¥ MZEE IRV EZEGhTXELRTES Y
and corporate governance committee held during the year 2024 is set B FEIB R &Y U0 T:
out below:
Number of meetings attended/held
Fil/B€H#4E
Corporate

General Audit  Remuneration Nomination governance
Directors meetings Board committee committee committee committee
£ RRAg 3 BrZEE iMZEE R2%Z8E (XERZEE
Executive Directors HnEs
Mr. YUAN Feng (Deputy Chief Erecutive Offce) RS (B/17H#7) " 44 "
M. CHUNG Cheuk Fan Marco Eemnt 1 404
Non-executive Directors TES
. L Jiong (Chaimman) ML (2R i 44 N
Mr. XU Jiangjang FERRE /1 44 /1
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BiFFi7TEZS
Mr. WU Jianfeng HABLE 17 44 22 17
Ms. HU Zhaoxia e 1 44 0 " n
M. Ma Xufei it o 114 1 " (l "
Mr. Ma Anyang ¢ o " 34 1 Wi o1 o
Note: Hiat:
As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 20 March 2024, Mr. AR HPEA T _NE=F _+ BN QS

Ma Xufei had tendered his resignation as the Company’s independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Company’s remuneration committee and
the member of each of the Company’s audit committee, corporate governance
committee and nomination committee with effect from 20 March 2024 and Mr.
Ma Anyang has been appointed as the Company’s independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the Company's remuneration committee and the
member of each of the Company’s audit committee, corporate governance
committee and nomination committee with effect from 21 March 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Directors and officers are indemnified under a directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance against any liability incurred by them in
the discharge of their duties while holding office as the Directors and
officers of the Company.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND
RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct regarding
transactions in securities of the Company by the Directors and the
relevant employees of the Company (including directors or employees
of subsidiaries of the Company) who are likely to possess inside
information of the Company and/or its securities. In response to
specific enquiry by the Company, all the Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the Model Code at all applicable times in their
securities transactions throughout the year 2024. Besides, no incident
of non-compliance of the Model Code by the employees was noted by
the Company.

The Company has also established written guidelines no less exacting
than the Model Code for employees in respect of their dealing in
the Company's shares and established written guidelines on inside
dealings in relation to the Company and the securities transaction of
the Company with reference to sections 245(2) and 247 to 249 and
Division 4 of Part XIll of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.
571).
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills so as to ensure their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company should
be responsible for arranging and funding suitable training, placing an
appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the Director.

During the vyear, all the Directors were provided with commentary
on the Group's business, operations, and financial matters as well
as regular updates on applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
The Company had also provided the Directors with the materials and
information update including the Directors’ obligations as required
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules. In
addition, individual Directors have also participated in other courses
relating to the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director
or further enhancement of their professional development by way
of attending training courses or via online aids or reading relevant
materials. All the Directors had provided their training records to the
Company for the year under review.
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Directors Type of trainings
£5 iEIEERY
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. YUAN Feng RIESAE A
Mr. CHUNG Cheuk Fan Marco TEE gt A/B
Non-executive Directors EHITES

Mr. LI Jiong =ity A
Mr. XU Jiangiang FriEsasE A/B
Independent non-executive Directors B IERITE

Mr. WU Jianfeng Halggid A
Ms. HU Zhaoxia HFRER L A
Mr. MA Anyang Skl b A/B

A:  attending internal briefing sessions/reading materials in relation to
corporate governance and regulatory updates.

B:  attending seminars/courses/conference to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“"Remuneration Committee”) on 18 December 2012. Written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code has been adopted. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to evaluate
the performance and determine the remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management of the Group, and evaluate the
performance and make recommendations on any other employee
benefit arrangement.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for (i) make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
for all Directors” and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy; (ii) review and approve the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals
and objectives; (iii) make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, which should include benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, and any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office(s) or appointment(s), and to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive
Directors; (iv) consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Company and any of its subsidiaries; (v) review and
approve compensation payable to executive Directors and senior
management for any loss or termination of office(s) or appointment(s)
to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise
fair and not excessive; (vi) review and approve compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms
and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate; (vii) ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration; and (viii) make recommendations to the Board as it
deems appropriate on any area within its scope of duties where action
or improvement is needed.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of one executive
Director, namely, Mr. Yuan Feng, and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Wu lJianfeng and Mr. Ma Anyang. Mr. Ma
Anyang is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. Majority of
the members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-
executive Directors.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) on 18 December 2012. Written terms of reference
in compliance with the Code has been adopted. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the Board regarding nomination of suitable
candidate to fill vacancies in the Board.

The Nomination Committee consists of one non-executive Director,
namely, Mr. Li Jiong (the Chairman of the Board), and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Hu Zhaoxia and Mr. Ma Anyang.
Mr. Li Jiong is the chairman of the Nomination Committee. Majority
of the members of the Nomination Committee are independent non-
executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee considered and reviewed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors, the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, and the
attendance records of the Board meetings, committees meetings
and general meetings for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
Nomination Committee recommended the Board to approve the
proposed sequence for re-election of retiring Directors in annual
general meeting to be held in 2025. The Nomination Committee
considers that the existing policy for nomination, selection and
recommendation for directorship are suitable. The Nomination
Committee also considered and make recommendations to the Board
on the proposed appointment of Directors, if any, during the year
ended 31 December 2024. Save as disclosed, there were no other new
appointment to the Board during the year.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity in
the boardroom. The Board has therefore adopted a board diversity
policy which stated that the Board sees diversity as a wide concept
and believes that a diversity of perspectives can be achieved through
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to skills,
regional and industry experience, background, race, gender and other
qualities. In informing its perspective on diversity, the Company will
also take into account factors based on its own business model and
specific needs from time to time.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company endeavours to ensure that the Board has the appropriate
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives that are
required to support the execution of its business strategy and in order
for the Board to be effective.

The Nomination Committee shall consider, among others, the
following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

Character and integrity;

e Personal attributes including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge, experience and expertise that are relevant to the
Company's business and corporate strategy, and the ability to
provide insights and practical wisdom based on those attributes;

e Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
Board member, other directorships, memberships of various
committees and significant commitments;

e  For independent non-executive Directors to be appointed in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidates
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

e Ability to develop a good working relationship with other Board
members and contribute to the Board's working relationship with
senior management of the Company;

e  Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted by
the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the Board;

and

e Any other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity
of Directors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, or professional experience.

A truly diverse Board will include and make good use of differences in
the skills, regional and industry experience, background, race, gender
and other qualities of Directors. These differences will be taken into
account in determining the optimum composition of the Board. All
Board appointments will be based on merit while taking into account
diversity (including gender diversity).

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually measurable
objectives for implementing diversity on the Board and recommend
them to the Board for adoption. The Nomination Committee
will report annually, in the Corporate Governance Report, on the
Board's composition under diversified perspectives, and monitor the
implementation of this policy.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

“Audit
Committee”) on 18 December 2012. Written terms of reference in

The Company established an audit committee (the

compliance with the Code has been adopted. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting process and risk management and internal control systems
of the Company, nominate and monitor external auditor and provide
advice and comments to the Board.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Ms. Hu Zhaoxia, Mr. Wu Jianfeng and Mr.
Ma Anyang. Ms. Hu Zhaoxia is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has met the external auditor of the Group to
review the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, risk management and internal control systems
and financial reporting matters including the review of this annual
report and financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee
reviewed with the management and the auditor of the Company
their audit findings, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Company, legal and regulatory compliance, and financial
reporting matters. The Audit Committee also considered and
made recommendations to the Board on the reappointment of the
Company's auditor.

The audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Company established a corporate governance committee (the
"CG Committee”) on 18 December 2012. Written terms of reference
in compliance with the Code has been adopted. The primary duties of
the CG Committee are to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board.

The CG Committee currently consists of one non-executive Director,
namely, Mr. Xu Jiangiang, and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ms. Hu Zhaoxia and Mr. Ma Anyang. Mr. Xu
Jiangiang is the chairman of the CG Committee. Majority of the
members of CG Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

During the year 2024, the CG Committee considered and reviewed the
progress on the implementation of the Group’s corporate governance
framework. The CG Committee also reviewed the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Company. Besides, the CG Committee
considered and reviewed the environmental, social and governance
reporting proposal. The CG Committee considers that the existing
policies and practices of corporate governance of the Company are
suitable.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors ensure the Group’s financial statements are prepared in
accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards.

The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation of the financial

statements and the auditor’s responsibilities are set out in the section
of “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems to safeguard the Company's assets and
Shareholders’ interests, and, with the Audit Committee, for reviewing
areas of risk and uncertainty, the operation and effectiveness of the
Group's systems of internal control and the procedures by which these
are monitored. In order to reduce the costs, the Board has delegated
the Group's compliance department to conduct the enterprise risk
assessment and internal control assessment over certain business
processes of the Group during the year to ensure and maintain sound
internal control functions by monitoring such internal control systems
and procedures so as to ensure that they can provide reasonable
assurance against misstatement or loss and to manage risks of failure
in the Group's operational systems.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed all material
internal control, including financial, operational and compliance
control. Together with the Audit Committee, the Board received and
considered the information from the management, external auditor
and the in-house compliance specialist in respect of the effectiveness
of the Group's certain internal control systems and have considered
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Company's accounting and financial reporting function. The
Board is satisfied that the financial, operational, compliance controls,
internal audit, risk management and internal control systems of the
Group had been in operation and considered that the Company’s risk
management and internal control system are effective and adequate.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage but not eliminate business risk, to help safeguard the Group's
assets against fraud and other irregularities, and to give reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material financial misstatement or loss.
In addition, it should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper and
fair accounting records and assist in the compliance with relevant rules
and regulations.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Group's audit works for the year ended 31 December 2024 were
performed by BDO Limited.

The total fee paid/payable in respect of the statutory audit and non-
audit services provided by the abovementioned auditors is set out in
the following:

Nature of work

12 RREMEN =

AEBRBEE_ZT_NF+RA=+—HILFE
E’JV%{IT’EEEé%ufa?%%‘éﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
RAT#EST

LN IR B B REE B R R IFE LR
BEN /EANNRERHYHEINTXR:

Amount (HK$)

Audit services EIZIRFS 1,250,000
Non-audit services JEEIZARTE 50,500

COMPANY SECRETARY

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary. The company secretary reports to the Chairman on board
governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and for facilitating communications among
Directors as well as with Shareholders and management.

Mr. Shek Wing Wa holds a bachelor degree in business administration
and a master degree in corporate governance and is an associate
member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute since 2010. He has been engaged
in company secretarial work for more than 19 years and has solid
experience in company secretarial field gained from both listed
companies and professional firms in Hong Kong.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s articles of association, any one
or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the Company’s paid up capital carrying the
right of voting at the Company’s general meetings shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by
the Company.

In the event that any Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the Company’s paid up capital
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company would
like to call for an extraordinary general meeting, please make a written
requisition to the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong from
time to time, making attention to “The Board of Directors and the
Company Secretary”.

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to put forward proposals
at the general meetings under the Company’s articles of association.
If Shareholders wish to do so, they may request to convene an
extraordinary general meeting as stipulated above and specify the
proposals in such written requisition.

For any enquiries, Shareholders are welcome to contact the Company
by post to the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong, by
phone at (852) 2600 7670 or by fax at (852) 3014 6457.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communications with Shareholders and investors

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with
the Shareholders. A shareholders’ communication policy setting
out the principles of the Company in relation to Shareholders’
communications, with the objectives of ensuring a transparent and
timely communication with Shareholders via various means, had been
established and published on the Company’s website. And it will be
reviewed annually after the annual general meeting. The Company's
annual general meetings and other general meetings are valuable
forums for the Board to communicate directly with the Shareholders
and to answer questions Shareholders may raise. Another key element
of effective communication with Shareholders and investors is the
prompt and timely dissemination of information in relation to the
Group. The Company has announced its 2023 annual results and 2024
interim results in a timely manner as required by the Listing Rules.

Separate resolutions are proposed by the chairman at general meetings
for each substantial issue. The detailed procedures of conducting
a poll are explained to Shareholders at the commencement of the
general meetings, to ensure that Shareholders are familiar with such
procedures.

The Company’s last annual general meeting ("AGM") was held on
Friday, 10 May 2024 at 10:30 a.m. at 17/F, One Pacific Place, 88
Queensway, Hong Kong. Notice of the last AGM was sent out on
28 March 2024, i.e. there were 21 clear days before the last AGM.
All the resolutions proposed at the last AGM were approved by the
Shareholders by poll. Details of the poll results are available on the
Company's website.

The Chairman of the Board attended the general meeting in the
year 2024 and also invited the chairman of the Audit, Nomination,
Corporate Governance and Remuneration Committees to attend. All
the Directors, attended the general meeting in the year 2024. The
Auditor was also available during the AGM to answer questions from
the Shareholders.
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The next AGM will be probably held at 17/F, One Pacific Place, 88
Queensway, Hong Kong on Friday, 9 May 2025 at 10:30 a.m. (or, in
the event that a black rainstorm warning signal or tropical cyclone
warning signal no. 8 or above is in force in Hong Kong at 9:00 a.m. on
that day, at the same time and place on Monday, 12 May 2025).

The Company's register of members will be closed from Tuesday, 6
May 2025 to Friday, 9 May 2025, both days inclusive, during the
period no transfers of Company’s shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Union Registrars Limited, at Suites 3301-04, 33/F, Two Chinachem
Exchange Square, 338 King's Road, North Point, Hong Kong for
registration by no later than 4:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Monday,
5 May 2025.

The Company's market capitalisation as at 31 December 2024 was
approximately HK$199.26 million (issued share capital: 2,033,290,000
Shares at closing market price: HK$0.098 per Share). The public float
was approximately 26.22% as at 31 December 2024.

Stakeholders of the Company could send emails to
“enquiry@clsapremium.com” for the communication of their views on
various matters related to the Company and the emails would be replied by
specific department of the Company.

All corporate communication materials published on the websites
of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.clsapremium.com) as soon as practicable after their release.
The Company's constitutional documents are also available on both
websites. During the year under review, there is no amendment to the
Company’s articles of association.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
By 37 A% BRI S

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

EEE ¢ +852 2218 8288
{HE : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CLSA
Premium Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to 132, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Net realisable value of inventories

The carrying amount of the Group’s inventories as at 31 December
2024 was HK$34,546,000.

These inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories in the ordinary course of business less all estimated costs of
completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

In arriving at the carrying amount of the Group's inventories as at
the year end, management estimation on the net realisable value of
inventories is required. We have identified the net realisable value of
inventories as a key audit matter because of the significance of the
carrying amount of inventories; and because applying the Group's
accounting policies in the net realisable value of inventories involves
significant degree of estimation.

Our audit procedures to address the valuation of inventories included
the following:

e observing the physical inventory count performed on the Group's
inventories as part of the procedures for identifying obsolete or
slow-moving inventories;

e checking the ageing analysis of the Group's inventories which was
used by management to identify those aged inventories with an
indication of possible write-down of inventories; and

e performing substantive procedures relating to the costs and
net realisable value with reference to the purchase invoices and
subsequent sales records.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e  obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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e conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the group financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the work performed for
the purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Chan Wing Fai

Practising Certificate Number P05443

Hong Kong, 17 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Ao o 2 T WAt 7%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z

“mEFCB=t—BLERE

2024 2023
112 5 —2—=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
iokzz3 FAET TFAET
CONTINUING OPERATIONS RHEREER
Sales of goods from healthcare business ~— {REEEFEE RIHE 5 86,489 191,170
Other income HAUA 6 16,332 8,513
Total income WA #BER 102,821 199,683
Cost of sales from healthcare business RIEEFFHE A 14 (52,454) (151,077)
Referral expenses and other charges ENRZREMER (2,777) (3,642)
Staff costs BTRAE 7 (3,045) (1,934)
Depreciation e (310) =
Impairment loss on trade receivables B2 RUGEIE 2 R EEE (625) =
Other operating expenses H =Sz 8 (31,021) (28,455)
Total expenses sz (90,232) (185,108)
Profit before tax from continuing FEREERELE ZRRA
operations gl 12,589 14,575
Income tax expense FrigiR B 10 (1,251) (1,745)
Profit for the year from continuing TEREEREL Y
operations FEHH] 11,338 12,830
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BARILEEET
Loss for the year from discontinued REERIESER 2 FERE
operations 9 - (2,988)
Profit for the year FEE @A 11,338 9,842

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
oy 2 T A 2 R
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_ZE " MF+_"_HA=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
—EIMNEF B =
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
byt FAET TFAET
Other comprehensive income Hthz2ms=
Item that may be reclassified to OJSEEF D HEE R < HEH
profit or loss
Currency translation difference EsEREEE (6,896) (777)
Other comprehensive loss FEHMEEEE
for the year, net of tax (0 kR IE) (6,896) (777)
Total comprehensive income FELXEWGLELE
for the year 4,442 9,065
Profit/(loss) attributable to: LUFIEE ST, (B518) :
Continuing operations FFEREER 11,338 12,830
Discontinued operations BARIEREER - (2,988)
11,338 9,842
Total comprehensive income/(loss) U THEEEGLZE
attributable to: Weis, (B548) 48%E .
Continuing operations FEKEER 4,442 12,012
Discontinued operations BRI EEFR - (2,947)
4,442 9,065
Profit/(loss) per share for FEXRATIIREFE AEWN HK cents HK cents
profit/(loss) attributable wHl (B518) Z A Al
to the equity holders of the SREF, (E518)
Company for the year
Continuing operations FEREER 0.56 0.63
Discontinued operations BARIEREER - (0.15)
— Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) —EARKEE (BREBW) 2 0.56 0.48
The Notes on pages 71 to 132 form part of these consolidated FH71ZE132BEMMERENZEHEEMFHREIMN—

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

wr e M B IR R

As at 31 December 2024 X _E_ME+_A=+—H

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HizE FHET FEx
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment L EN Y 13 77 388
Total non-current assets JERENEERE 77 388
Current assets RHEE
Inventories 78 14 34,546 11,916
Trade receivables B 5 EWEIE 15 36,720 12,979
Other receivables, prepayments and HhfEUWRIE ~ FE{I A
deposits Ke¥e < 16 1,703 2,914
Tax prepayment TR IE - 4
Cash and bank balances and NSRRI TAEFRIA R
client trust bank balances E R {E:0iR1T45 R 17 206,336 223,574
Total current assets RENEEEE 279,305 251,387
Total assets BEHRE 279,382 251,775
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ExEkaE
Equity =
Share capital %N 21(a) 20,333 20,333
Reserves HHE 21(b) 223,974 219,532
Total equity KEE4aEA 244,307 239,865
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AR a WS IR L AR

As at 31 December 2024 PR _E_MFE+_B=+—H

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kt FHET FET

Current liabilities Bt R=NE
Income tax payable FETFRSHR 3,093 1,842
Trade and other payables B2 REMERIE 19 30,861 8,909
Clients’ balances B P ERR 20 1,121 1,159
Total current liabilities R EEELE 35,075 11,910
Total liabilities =Rk 35,075 11,910
Total equity and liabilities REDRERE 279,382 251,775

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 132 were FH64EI1NENLGEMBREEN _S_HF=
approved by the Board of Directors on 17 March 2025 and were EB+tHEESZHERARAUTEERAES
signed on its behalf.

Yuan Feng Chung Cheuk Fan Marco
RIE EER

The Notes on pages 71 to 132 form part of these consolidated fE71E 12BN FENZE LM HBRERN—
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

Currency
Share Share Capital translation  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve losses equity
BRER
fa Rfn 61 BXRE 1 R Emias
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
if3 TR TR TiEn T#En TR TR
(Note 21(a)) (Note 21(b)) (Note 21(b)) (Note 21(b)) (Note 21(b))
W#21) (Hr211t) (Hr211e) (W21) (HzE21b)
Balance at 1 January 2023 RIBE-=&
—B—Bz%&8% 20,333 180,493 171,892 (23,298) (118,620) 230,800
Comprehensive income 2ENE
Profit for the year FERT - - - - 9,842 9,842
Other comprehensive loss FEEMZEER
for the year - - - (777) - (777)
Total comprehensive income FEZRKRLE
during the year - - - (777) 9,842 9,065
Balance at 31 December 2023  HZZEZ=%£+-A=+-H
and 1 January 2024 RZBZME-B-AZ
&5 20,333 180,493 171,892 (24,075) (108,778) 239,865
Comprehensive income 2ENE
Profit for the year FERA - - - - 11,338 11,338
Other comprehensive loss FEHMPEEGE
for the year - - - (6,896) - (6,896)
Total comprehensive income FELXAKEREH
during the year - - - (6,896) 11,338 4,442
Balance at 31 December 2024 W-ZF_ME+-B=+-H
25 20,333 180,493 171,892 (30,971) (97,440) 244,307

The Notes on pages 71 to 132 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
A B ER
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_ZE " MF+_"_HA=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
T mE . ——
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
byt FHET FHET
Cash flows from operating REETHFRSRENE
activities
Profit/(loss) before tax bR ETRA . (E518)
Continuing operations P EE 12,589 14,575
Discontinued operations RIS ER - (2,988)
12,589 11,587
Adjustments for: FHEE
Depreciation e 13 310 456
Interest income ISV ON (9,282) (9,639)
Interest expense MEMXZ - 1
Impairment loss on trade receivables B S EWRIEZ BERE 625 -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME BERZHE WG
equipment (202) =
Cash flows generated from operating EEAT LD R
activities before working FRiRIREmRE
capital changes 4,040 2,405
Changes in working capital: HEESE .
Trade receivables B 5 EEIE (24,366) 5,012
Client trust bank balances B P (EsLiR1T4ERR (85) 2,971
Balances due from agents FEUR LIRAS BR - 4,651
Derivative financial instruments TEEmITA - (12)
Other receivables, H AR WGRIE
prepayments and deposits TEfIEREE 1,091 4,059
Inventories 78 (22,630) 25,879
Clients’ balances R4Sk 67 (682)
Trade and other payables B 5 R EME[RIE 21,986 (42,460)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations ~ #8%& (FFF) /FiiSERE (19,897) 1,823
Income taxes paid [SENIZIRET - -
Net cash (used in)/generated from REES) (FTR) /PSR 288
operating activities (19,897) 1,823
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

o BleiiE R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
iokzz3 FHET FHET
Cash flows from investing REFHFAFRENRE
activities
Interest received BUFE 9,282 9,639
Sales proceeds from disposal of property, HEYZE -MERZRHEZIHE
plant and equipment FriSFRIE 6 202 =
Net cash generated from investing activities ¥ & EEFR1SIR S $58 9,484 9,639
Cash flow from financing REEEAMFRERE
activity
Interest paid BAFE - (1)
Net cash used in financing activity B GREPTRIRE 35 - (1
Net (decrease)/increase in cash HEREEEEY (BL) /tEm
and cash equivalents RER (10,413) 11,461
Cash and cash equivalents at FYRERIREEEBY
beginning of year 17 222,386 211,791
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,  FEREiF 7 2548
net (6,802) (866)
Cash and cash equivalents FRFAERREEEY
at end of year 17 205,171 222,386
The Notes on pages 71 to 132 form part of these consolidated f71E 12BN FENZELEMHBRERN—

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o U 5 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E —ZE " WF+_F=+—HILFE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

1.1 General information

CLSA Premium Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 9 November 2010 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. Its registered office address is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company is an investment
holding company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in the sales of healthcare products and other services.

The Company’s shares are listed on the main board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company's immediate controlling shareholder is
CITIC Securities International Company Limited (“CSI"),
a company incorporated in Hong Kong and its holding
company is CITIC Securities Company Limited which was
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, 59.03% of the Company’s
issued shares are held by CSI, 14.75% of the Company’s
issued shares are held by KVB Holdings Limited.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

AEER
1.1 —fRER

CLSA Premium Limited (TZ&A& )
RIE—ZF+—ANLHRBREHEES
BHERAEFENE RIFEREIIN
—NAR—FEZHRE) RHEHE
HMRIIAEREERRE cKAF]
By 5E 3% =5 BE 3k A Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islandse R AB A —BEEERA
B HMBAB FENSREE A
EREMARTES o

ERBRMNREEHERZAERL
B (TB 32 Ffry) AR Lo

AABNEEERKRRATREESH
BERAR (MPEZHFEE) RS
BEMAL REZER AT AR P E
A B+ B 5 Mt 5% 32 BY R 15 5 35 AR
RBERAT) RIBE_MER_-E
Z=EFE+ZRA=+—B ARABE%
TR A 8959.03% A (558 5 B FE 5
B RARTDEBETRHNI4.75%
EIKVB Holdings Limited#F A

RIESBMRMPB REMHBRERUBT
(MBI 2%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,

unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and applicable
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622). In addition, the financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost except for certain financial assets and financial liabilities
(including derivative instruments) measured at fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E _Z _UE+_HB=+—HIEFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 2 SAZHBEREH @)
(continued)

2.1 RERE (&)
(a) IRAFTETRAZNESTE B HEHRE

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs -

effective on or after 1 January 2024

The Group has applied the following amendments to
the standards for the first time for its annual reporting
year commencing 1 January 2024:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

B -H-F_MEFE—F—HZK
ZREXH

FEBEEMEBEZZ_MF—A1
—BRBNREFEERERMN
TNERHEST A -

BB ER REBEN AR
BIRZETAR  BEIER

BAGE R YA Z2A M IER

Covenants EAE A TN HEE
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and HEVBREER ERMERNEE
Leaseback F165k =K
1BET

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance

and HKFRS 7 Arrangements

The Group has not early applied any new or amended
HKFRSs Accounting Standards that is not yet effective
for the current accounting period.

The amendments listed above did not have any impact
on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or future
periods.

ERGERE7 HESMERH
TRBEBIME

REERFTHR

ZIESTR

FEETERREFSEBETERER
S A A R ER Z T ET AE(E
SIERBMBREERESER -

EXPRINZAEET 25 b 45 338 3 HA
MR EREEERNTZE &
TSN ER B ARBABFEE
EAEE.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B U 5 AR A B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New and revised standards and

interpretations not yet adopted by the
Group

Certain new and revised accounting standards and
interpretations have been published that are not
mandatory for 31 December 2024 reporting periods
and have not been early adopted by the Group.
Other than HKFRS 18, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of these new and revised
standards are not expected to have a material impact
on the entity in the current or future reporting periods
and on foreseeable future transactions.

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Amendment to the Classification

HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements’®
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®
Volume 11 Annual Improvements to the

HKFRS Accounting standards’
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Contracts Referencing Nature-
HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity’

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

< Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026

A Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E —ZE " WF+_F=+—HILFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 2 EXIEHHERER @)
(continued)

2.1 RREE (@)
(b) 75255 jof K IRA) .2 AT 5T R AZNEET

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New and revised standards and

interpretations not yet adopted by the
Group (continued)

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements - HKFRS 18

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the statement of profit or loss,
including specified totals and subtotals.

Furthermore, entities are required to classify all income
and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into
one of five categories: operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations, whereof the
first three are new.

It also requires disclosure of newly defined
management— defined performance measures,
subtotals of income and expenses, and includes new
requirements for aggregation and disaggregation of
financial information based on the identified ‘roles’ of
the primary financial statements and the notes.

In addition, narrow-scope amendments have been
made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, which
include changing the starting point for determining
cash flows from operations under the indirect method,
from ‘profit or loss" to ‘operating profit or loss’ and
removing the optionality around classification of cash
flows from dividends and interest. In addition, there are
consequential amendments to several other standards.

HKFRS 18, and the amendments to the other
standards, is effective for reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2027, but earlier application is
permitted and must be disclosed. HKFRS 18 will apply
retrospectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B U 5 AR A B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New and revised standards and

interpretations not yet adopted by the
Group (continued)

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements - HKFRS 18 (continued)

The Directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 18 has no impact on the Group's
financial position and performance in foreseeable
future, but has impact on presentation of the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method of
accounting to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued
by the Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o U 5 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E —ZE " WF+_F=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of
a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly
in the statement of comprehensive income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B U 5 AR A B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.2 Separate financial statements (continued)

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets
including goodwill.

2.3 Segment reporting

24

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker. The chief operating decision maker is the
person or group that allocates resources to and assesses the
performance of the operating segments of an entity. The
Group has determined the executive directors and senior
management as its chief operating decision maker.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HK$, which is the Company's functional and the
Group's presentation currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o U 5 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E —ZE " WF+_F=+—HILFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b) Transactions and balances

(c)

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each consolidated
statement of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the end of each
reporting period;

(i) income and expenses for each consolidated
statements of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B U 5 AR A B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

2.5 Financial assets

2.5.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

e  those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through profit or loss or through other
comprehensive income); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

2.52 Recognition and derecognition

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date — the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the assets.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E —ZE " WF+_F=+—HILFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 2 EXRIEHERER @)
(continued)

25 TRIEE (&)

253 Measurement 2535 =

2.5 Financial assets (continued)

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in
profit or loss. Gains and losses arising from changes
in the fair value of the “financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss” category are included directly in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Certain financial assets are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less impairment if
any. The Group’s receivables and deposits and bank
balances fall under this category. These financial
assets are measured subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method. Interest on
loans is included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and is reported as net interest
income.

2.54 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from
the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

2.5 Financial assets (continued)

2.54 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost
or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 2

(continued)

2.5 Financial assets (continued)
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2.54 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 60 to 120 days past due. The
Group has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption
of default based on reasonable and supportable
information, including the Group's credit risk control
practices and the historical recovery rate of financial
assets over 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

2.5 Financial assets (continued)

2.54 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has assessed the credit risk exposure that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

2.6 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits
at banks, bank deposits with original maturities of three
months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and cash
equivalents available for the disposition of the Group and
exclude client trust bank balances, and bank deposits held to
secure the banking facilities granted to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

2.7

Inventories

2.8

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the First-In-First-Out method
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the
writedown or loss occurs.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their
carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair
value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

2.9 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities representing other payables and
clients’” balances are recognised initially at fair value
net of transaction costs incurred. Financial liabilities are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between proceeds net of transaction costs and the
redemption value is recognised in the profit or loss over the
period of the other financial liabilities using the effective
interest method. Financial liabilities are derecognised when
they are extinguished — that is, when the obligation is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

2.10Trade payables and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer).
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade
and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

2.11Provision

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the
time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o U 5 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E —ZE " WF+_F=+—HILFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

2.12Revenue recognition

Revenue of the Group is recognised on the following bases:

(a)

Sales of goods from healthcare business, when the
control of the products has been transferred to
customers, which is the point of acceptance by the
customers;

(i) Right of return

For contracts which provide a customer with
a right to return the goods within a specified
period, the expected value method is used to
estimate the goods that will not be returned
because this method best predicts the amount
of variable consideration to which the Group will
be entitled. The requirements in HKFRS 15 on
constraining estimates of variable consideration
are applied in order to determine the amount of
variable consideration that can be included in the
transaction price. For goods that are expected to
be returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability
is recognised. A right-of-return asset (and the
corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is also
recognised for the right to recover products from
a customer.

interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 2

(continued)

2.13Right-of-return assets

EXE

stEERER (B

JABREHEE

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover
the goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset
is measured at the former carrying amount of the goods to
be returned, less any expected costs to recover the goods
and any potential decreases in the value of the returned
goods. The Group updates the measurement of the asset
for any revisions to the expected level of returns and any
additional decreases in the value of the returned goods.

2.14Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund
some or all of the consideration received (or receivable)
from a customer and is measured at the amount the Group
ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer. The
Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and the
corresponding change in the transaction price) at the end of
each reporting period.

2.15Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held-for-

sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as
held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered
highly probable. The non-current assets (except for certain
assets as explained below), (or disposal groups), are stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group's
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which
represents a separate major line of business or geographic
area of operations, or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E _Z _UE+_HB=+—HIEFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 2 SAZHBEREH @)
(continued)

2ASFHEHEZ IFRBE E (S HE4E5) &

2.15Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held-for-

sale and discontinued operations (continued)

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, which comprises the post-tax profit
or loss of the discontinued operation and the post-tax gain
or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less
costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal
group(s) constituting the discontinued operation.

On 25 January 2022, the Company announced that the
Group has decided to suspend the operation of CA Premium
New Zealand Limited (a subsidiary of the Company in New
Zealand (formerly known as CLSA Premium New Zealand
Limited, w.e.f 28 February 2025, “CAP NZ")) and to
change it as a dormant company until there is any further
decision to be made. In June 2022, CAP NZ has returned its
derivative issuer licence to the Financial Markets Authority of
New Zealand (the “FMA").

On 7 September 2022, the Group announced that given
the ongoing losses suffered by the business in Australia
and the uncertain future of such business, the directors of
the Group considers that the resources and effort deployed
in Australia could potentially be better utilized in the
Group's development in other areas. In November 2022,
the Australian Financial Services Licence of CA Premium Pty
Limited (formerly known as CLSA Premium Pty Limited, w.e.f
28 February 2025) was cancelled by the Australian Securities
and Investments Commission (the “ASIC").

In May 2023, CA Premium International (HK) Limited
(formerly known as CLSA Premium International (HK)
Limited, w.e.f 28 February 2025) notified the Securities
and Futures Commission of its intention to case regulated
activities from 31 May 2023 under the Hong Kong Securities
and Futures Ordinance.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk is inherent in the financial service business and sound
risk management is a cornerstone of prudent and successful
financial practice. The Group acknowledges that a balance must
be achieved between risks, control and business growth. The
principal financial risks inherent in the Group’s business are credit
risk, market risk (including interest rate risk and foreign currency
risk) and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
objective is to enhance shareholder value while retaining exposure
within acceptable thresholds in response to changes in markets.
The Group has a robust risk management system in place to
identify, analyse, assess and manage risks.

The policies for managing each of these risks are summarised
below:

3.1 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the Group. The Group is exposed to credit risk from bank
balances, trade receivables, other receivables and deposits.
After evaluating the clients’ risk profiles, the Group sets
stop-out levels to the clients. Once their equity drops to the
stop-out level the Group’s trading system will automatically
liquidate the client’s positions. Without taking into account
any collateral held or other credit enhancements, the
maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amounts of
these assets. The Group monitors the credit risk exposure
of the balances on a regular basis, taking into account
the financial position and past experience. The Group did
not experience any losses from non-performance by the
counterparties.

The Group's bank deposits are held with banks.
Management reviews the banks creditworthiness on a
regular basis.

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

SR EE

TRRFERSEFERRE AT IS
By E bR B IR o Th 1 BT IE M AT B
o AEBNTER ERREBERZ
BRAEBR TR AEENEFEFENEE
WHERRAREERR HHERER (BEF
& B R S BE R BR) Re i Eh 4 R B o A £
EpERERREEERANERHIEEE
By > 5 B E RV R PR AR I T R KT A
2 BRRNRERERREE - FEEE
BURENRBEERGUHA D
ST e B IR R B o

BEZFRBRSBNERBANT

3.1 EERARE

FEERRESFHERESGHEMENR
BEURAERRZMBRRVER -
AEBEMRITER  BHBERRE
HMtMEWRBERZEEAZEERR -
RFGERRARBRARE  ZEBSE
BRiEHFaKF —BHZEEEK
ERFIFEKF  XEBRZ RHEHF
BEBER TR R FFERA
BRI EMEERABRT AR
NesEERRTZFEENKRE
BE-rEEECHERGBAZIEFEER
B UWEBMBRRRBEER &
EEUERANFHREBOMARE
] E5 18 °

AEBRTEREBTREE ERE
EHERTIEE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E —ZE " WF+_F=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Credit risk (continued)

The Group's trade receivables mainly include receivables
from third-party payment platform receivables. The
management believes the credit risk is limited because the
deposits in transit was held by high-credit-quality financial
institutions. There has been no recent history of default in
relation to these financial institutions, the credit risk in such
trade receivables is low.

(a) Impairment of financial assets

The Group has four types of financial assets that are
subject to HKFRS 9 expected credit loss assessment:

. Cash and bank balances and client trust bank
balances;

e  Trade receivables; and

e Other receivables and deposits.

The Group measures loss allowances for these financial
assets at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit
losses (“ECL"), which is an estimate of losses that the
Group expects will result from a credit event, such as a
payment default.

To measure the expected credit losses, the Group
determines the expected loss rates based on the credit
default rates of the debtors of these financial assets
with reference to the corresponding credit ratings
from internationally renowned credit rating agencies.
These rates are further adjusted to reflect the possible
changes in the current and forwarding looking
macroeconomic factors which may result in different
default behaviour and credit risks of the debtors.
At each reporting date, the credit default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BHERKREE @
3.1 Credit risk (continued) 3.1 EERKE @&
(a) Impairment of financial assets (continued) (a) TFHEERME (&
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group RZIEBE_NER_ZE_Z=HF
recognised a loss allowance of approximately +ZB=+—HB ' X&EEHRES
HK$625,000 and HK$Nil respectively on the trade FEWMARIED BT EBEEBEED
receivables. 625,000 B TR EHB T o
The movement in the provision for expected credit loss FERNEME ZRWRIBENTERE
account in respect of trade receivables during the year EFIERENEGBESNT !
is as follow:
Trade
receivables
BS
HK$'000
FHET
Balance at 1 January 2023 N ZEZ=F—HB—HH&EER
Impairment losses recognised during the year FREBIBIERE =
Balance at 31 December 2023 and N ZEC=F+ZA=+—HkK
1 January 2024 2T F—HB—HBEER -
Impairment losses recognised during the year FEAERREEE 625
Balance at 31 December 2024 A TEINF+ZA=+—HB&EER 625
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E _Z _UE+_HB=+—HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BMEEKREIR &)
3.1 EEEK @)

(b) X3t RETF5/H /i XA MIZEE

3.1 Credit risk (continued)

(b) Maximum exposure to credit risk before

collateral held or other credit enhancements

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in
the event the counterparties fail to perform their
obligations as at the end of reporting period, in
relation to each class of financial assets, is the amounts
of those assets before provision for expected credit
loss as indicated in the consolidated statement of
financial position. These amounts represent the
worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the
Group at 31 December 2024 and 2023, without
taking into account any collateral held or other credit
enhancements attached.

The amounts of receivables and other assets arising

FERN RS IEEREE
MHF R ARERBRERRBITE
S AAEEMEERRESEE
MEEEENEESEERKRESR
REMBRRARANMTNZEEE
REREEEEEBRINERE.
ZETHARERR S TOF
rKZE_=F+"HB=+—HF
HENEERRNEEZBE > A
IR 5T e A 171 PR R 36 18 S AT BY
HIEBRFAIBENR

REEREBBRETELENEK

from the course of business of the Group are as MEREMEETZENT -
follows:
2024 2023
ol 111 =3 B =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Trade receivables B S W IE 37,345 12,979
Other receivables and deposits HhEWRIB Mg+ 1,152 1,143
Cash and bank balances and client BB RIRTTAEERUA K
trust bank balances B R S:EIR1T4E R 206,336 223,574
Total gross amounts MMEE St 244,833 237,696
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B U 5 AR A B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BMEEKREIR &)

3.1 Credit risk (continued) 3.1 EEEK @)

94

(c) The following table breaks down the Group’s major

credit exposure at their amounts, as categorised by

geographical region as of 31 December 2024 and

2023. The Group has allocated exposures to regions

based on the country of domicile of its counterparties.

Credit risk exposure by geographical sectors is classified

according to the location of counterparties after taking

into account the transfer of risk.

As at 31 December 2024

(c) TRUEBEMOTERBHREC
- EEE’Z_V__EE-F E

=+t—HWEEEFER

IR & 15 ) 48 o ZK%I*E%FH%#
?EE’JﬁﬁT‘lﬁ’\PﬁEHB Z‘E%i’ﬂ
cHER B HNEER
,%%DHEZJ—W %%@f@ﬂ@&fﬁiﬁ
PRAEEM T LD HE

R-E-_NME+-"H=+—H

Asia Pacific
excluding
Hong Kong Hong Kong Total
TAHME
A (FEEER) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT AT
Trade receivables BAEWE 37,345 - 37,345
Other receivables and deposits HittEWRIER%E 951 201 1,152
Cash and bank balances and RERRTERURK
client trust bank balances KA ELIRITARR 201,088 5,248 206,336
Total Hast 239,384 5,449 244,833
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+Z"HA=+—H
Asia Pacific
excluding
Hong Kong Hong Kong Total
DAME
54 FEEER) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT FET
Trade receivables BaEk=E 12,979 - 12,979
Other receivables and deposits Hitn W IE RS 935 208 1,143
Cash and bank balances and RE RIRTERUR
client trust bank balances BRETRTER 217,557 6,017 223,574
Total Mzt 231,471 6,225 237,696
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o U 5 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E —ZE " WF+_F=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Market risk

3.2.1 Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as the Group
invests all surplus funds in accounts with reputable
counterparties and is susceptible to movements in call
interest rates. Interest rate risk arises from unexpected
changes in interest rates that may result in an adverse
impact on the Group’s current and near future
performance. The Group has not used any interest rate
swaps nor forward interest rate contracts to hedge its
exposure to interest rate risk.

As at 31 December 2024

3 HEEKER @)
3.2 THIZE
3.2.1 F FE & Bz

ARAEBRMAERFESRE
REERFHFINRALRE
MMERBNTE AAEEE
B ) 2R B o ) R AL BRUR B A R
WEINKE ARSI NEER
HEERNRKROPREESE
TR E  REBIW KA ABEMR
MEREFHNBERAFNRGHEPHE
R

W-ZE-_ME+=-"H=+—H

Floating Fixed Provision
interest interest ~ Non-interest  for expected
rate rate bearing credit loss Total
BHEE
FERIE Bk & EiEE Mzt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT TR TR TAR
Assets BE
Trade receivables B RRWEE - - 37,345 (625) 36,720
Other receivables and deposits EfENFEREE - - 1,152 - 1,152
Cash and bank balances and ReRBTHEEUR
lient trust bank balances BPRERTAR 10,518 195,818 - - 206,336
Liabilities &ff
Trade and other payables B REMENTIE - - 30,861 - 30,861
Clients’ balances BRGR - - 1121 - 1,121
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Market risk (continued)

3.2.1 Interest rate risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

3

MHBREER (@)
3.2 HiZEAKE (&

3217 F R (&

RTE_=F£+"A=+—H

Floating Fixed Provision
interest interest Non-interest for expected
rate rate bearing credit loss Total
RBEE
RERE il %8 BiEkE Mgt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TR TEn TER TER
Assets BE
Trade receivables B ARWEE - - 12,979 - 12,979
Other receivables and deposits HitEWFIEREE - - 1,143 - 1,143
Cash and bank balances and RERFIHRUR
client trust bank balances RPEERTER 34,954 188,620 - - 223574
Liabilities &
Trade and other payables B A REMENTIE - - 8,909 - 8,909
Clients’ balances BRAER - - 1,159 - 1,159

Based on the simulations performed and with other

variables held constant, should the interest rate

increase/decrease by 1%, the profit/(loss) after taxation

for the year ended 31 December 2024 would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$105,000 (2023:
approximately HK$350,000) and the equity would

decrease/increase by approximately HK$105,000

(2023: approximately HK$350,000).

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

1R 45 P 2 17 8O R 8 K H fth =] &
RERFAEFE > MAER
=5/ FH1% BHEE_ZT_/M
F+ZA=1+—HILEFENRR
BwA (B8 Bigm ml
#105,0008 T (ZEZ=F: &
350,000 7T) Mg R
EIN49105,0008 T (ZE =
£ #49350,00038 7T) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E —ZE " WF+_F=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEEKER @)
3.2 Market risk (continued) 3.2 HIREE )
3.2.2 Foreign currency risk 3.22 5} E R B

Exchange rate fluctuation is the most significant risk
in leveraged foreign exchange trading. The Group
takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in
the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its
financial position and cash flows. The Group is exposed
to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to New Zealand
dollars and Australian dollars. The Group will suffer a
loss if it fails to cover a client deal at a better exchange
rate. The Group monitors foreign exchange exposure
by reviewing the open position of the Group and
client trading performance. The risk is measured by the
use of sensitivity analysis and cash flow forecasting.
Specific risk limits are set to measure and monitor
foreign exchange risk. Any excessive foreign exchange
risks are passed on to other financial institutions
through execution of trades with those institutions. The
management sets limits on the level of exposure by
currency and in aggregate for both overnight and intra-
day positions, which are monitored on an intra-day
basis.

The Group has certain investments in foreign operations,
whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency
translation risk. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency policy to hedge its foreign currency
exposure arising from the net assets of the Group's
foreign operations.

The Group trades in foreign currencies, commodities
and other products through its margin trading
business. In order to protect against their exposures to
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and commodity
prices, the Group has entered into a number of
derivative contracts with the Group’s counterparties in
the normal course of business.

EXIHHBRENIINERZ TR
ERANER AEBNYHKR
RBEERERNEERINEERE
BT EMAERRE NEHX
RUFARTRRTSENEE
SNERE W AEBEREREE
EXETELRRZ AIBRRIA
K- AEEZEBEESLAEBNRK
TREMRERR S REFEREN
B JEL B2 o LB 75 28 1B ) A SRR 1%
DMKRBERERAEF T AET
SR RERBRHDRFER
B RSN R B T 5% o (R A Sh
FERERRZEBEEMERMEEE
TREBBEEZSHEBE -EERE
HIR®ERE B A S MABERFT
AENERKTRERE > AR
HENEARFBARATUER-

TEBFEETBIINEBRA
HEEFERRIMNEZIRER -
A& B A0 HE IS BUR
DS HRAREEBIINEFEETF
BEEINERR -

FEEZEBEREESRZEHE
TN - BmekEMERRKS -
HREAERARERLERE
BEBZRBETE AEBNE
FEBRETRAZZHFEIIL
ZIEMEEMN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HMBRMBEIE (E
3.2 Market risk (continued) 3.2 TiZEKR &)
322 Foreign currency risk (continued) 322 9}ME R BE (4B
The tables below summarise the Group's exposure to TRE|AAXEEBR S ZMNFRK
foreign currency exchange rate risk as at 31 December “EC=_F+ZA=+—HE®R
2024 and 2023. Included in the tables are the assets BINEREPR e TRANAUBITE
and liabilities at carrying amounts in HK$ equivalent, MEREEY R IZREEE SHEN
categorised by the original currency. BEEREGR-
As at 31 December 2024 RZE-_ME+ZB=+—H
Provision
for
expected
credit
HKS NZD AUD Uss Py RMB Others loss Total
BlEE
AT HEET A e BE ARE Rt BREE o
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEn FEn TEn TEn TR iR Tin TEn TEn
Assets BE
Trade receivables ERENE 29,232 - - 1,446 - 6,667 - (625) 36,720
Other receivables and deposits ~ EENGUER 48 130 38 910 - 3 bx] - 1,152
Cash and bank balances and ReRFTERUR
dlient trust bank halances RRERES 739 - 6,654 186,660 4 5,609 1 - 206,336
Liahilities af
Trade and other payables B REMENTE 30,643 - 166 - - - 5 - 30,861
Clients' balances RR&H - 5 335 781 - - - - 1121
As at 31 December 2023 R_E_=F+"_H=+—H
Provision
for
expected
credit
HKS NID AU Uss Y VB Others loss Total
BHEE
AT HEET B e BE ARE At FERE 5t
HKS 000 HKs 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKs 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
&R &R T TEn &R TR TR TEn &R
Assets BE
Trade receivables BaRkEE 4167 - - - - 8812 - - 12,979
Other receivables and deposits ~ EENGUER 50 134 £ 860 - 65 - - 1,183
Cash and bank balances and RERRTERUR
client trust bank balances BRERHES 25213 4 7571 182,798 4 7965 13 - W57
Liabilities af
Trade and other payables B REMENFE 8538 - 3N - - - - - 8909
Clients’ balances RE&H - 5 368 786 - - - - 1159
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z

o o U 5 R B

“HET A=t —HIEFE

The Group’s operations are subject to various statutory
liquidity requirements as prescribed by the relevant
authorities. The Group has put in place a monitoring system
to ensure that it maintains adequate liquid capital to fund
its business commitments and to comply with the regulatory
requirements. The liquidity risk of the Group is managed
by regularly monitoring current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and current working capital to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term. The Group
holds sufficient cash and deposits on demand to repay its
liabilities.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MBRKRERE @)
3.2 Market risk (continued) 3.2 hiFEK &)
3.2.2 Foreign currency risk (continued) 32250 EREE (B
The following table indicates the impact of T%?‘J?T’%ﬁﬁ’]éﬁﬁﬂﬁ%i
management’s reasonable expectation on the E_MER_ZE_=HF+_A
movement in foreign exchange rate on the Group's =+ —HAREBERREB N &E
profit after taxation and on equity as at 31 December T B9 9N BE BE FROF By 2 £
2024 and 2023:
Movement Movement
in foreign in foreign
currency 2024 currency 2023
Foreign currency risk SEERBR SNEKE ZZomE SMEE KB ZZCT=E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER FHT
RMB ANEHE +-5% 614 +-5% 842
AUD BT +-5% 310 +-5% 344
NZD HEET +-5% 6 +-5% 7
3.3 Liquidity risk 3 RENEE RS

FEENEBZRMEBREENSE
EERNEEERMB-AEEE R
YEERG BREFTTHANASE
EmAEENEBREREESRE
TEREXR - AEEZEBEEHEEE
AIRBAARSESEREEE RSN
R BARANEREREHIRE
ﬁ&@mgﬁéﬁuﬁﬁﬁhﬁ&é
HRBEEER - TEEFEREN
ﬁ%&ﬁ%f REEHEE-

==
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

3.3 Liquidity risk (continued)

3.3.1 Undiscounted cash flows by contractual
maturities

The table below presents the cash flows payable by
the Group under financial liabilities by remaining
contractual maturities as at 31 December 2024 and
2023. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

As at 31 December 2024

MBREKRERE (&)
3.3 MEMERER (B

3N BEHEAB T HIREEREE

=
HE

TRENFEEAR T -_MNFER
R =F+"RA=+—H®EER
TERNIHPRE SN ERME
BETHENRERE &R
RENEESSHRBFERESR

=
=o°

R-E-_ME+-H=+—H

Total Carrying
Up to 13 312 1-5 Over contractual  amount of
1 month months months years 5years  cash flows liabilities
BHRERE
—fAAR —-E2Zf88 Z=E+ZfiA -Eif BRE e BERAEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn TEw TEn TEn
Liabilities &
Trade and other payables B REMEMNTE 2,255 28,606 - - - 30,861 30,861
Clients’ balances BREER 1121 - - - - 1,121 1121
3,376 28,606 - - - 31,982 31,982
As at 31 December 2023 A —_E_=F+_"_H=+—H
Total Carrying
Upto 13 3-12 15 Over contractual amount of
1 month months months years 5 years cash flows liabilities
RHRERE
—fBAR —£=@F Z=ZEftZfA —Z1E BRE am &ERARE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TR TR TER TR TR
Liabilities aff
Trade and other payables B A REMETE 2373 6,536 - - - 8,909 8,909
Clients' balances BR#5H 1,159 - - - - 1,159 1,159
3,532 6,536 - - - 10,068 10,068
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E —ZE " WF+_F=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

34

Financial instruments by category

3.5

All financial assets and financial liabilities (including cash and
bank balances, client trust bank balances, other receivables
and deposits, trade receivables, clients’ balances and trade
and other payables) in the consolidated statement of
financial position are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method except for the derivative financial
instruments which are carried at fair value.

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which is
a broader concept than the “equity” on the consolidated
statement of financial position, are:

e To safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

e To support the Group's stability and growth; and

e To maintain a strong capital base to support the
development of its business.

The Group's gearing ratio at the end of reporting period is
shown below:

3 MHEEE

EE @

3.4 BEHBSNETRMTIA

irb AN
7=

R

R

MBERRARANEZLEHREER
BEE(BRERERBTER T
SEIRITAE R - Hth B W IBE KR I%

T EZREME -TREHRUKRE

SR
1 84
%

HMENARIE) UBRAN LR
B A AR LA A E AR
BT RERIN o

3.5 EXEE

NS
PIES

NS

HEEEX (HesRGEEMHNK
WD EREZ NERR !

RESERNFECERE U
EESRRKREMA D ERER
HEIR KA
XFEERNRBERER ; &

MERENERER  UXHFHH
EBERE-

BRmEHRNERLERDT -

2024 2023
ol 111 =3 B ——

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Total debt B HE%E - -

Total equity M AEER 244,307 239,865

Gearing ratio BEHEE N/A REH N/A 383
Total debt includes lease liabilities. EXREECEEEa G-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B U 5 AR A B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below:

4.1

Impairment provision for inventories

4.2

The estimation of impairment provision for inventories
involves significant management judgment based on the
consideration of key factors such as aging profile, estimated
future selling prices and selling expenses of the respective
inventories. Management reassesses these estimations of
impairment provision for inventories at the end of each
reporting date.

Revenue from contracts with customers-principal

EEGHEF RAVER

fly 5t Je FI R AS 5 A 5T 1 > S UBEREBR &
HMARAER GERERERB R THERE
HRREHNSERR-

AEBEGHARREL G RRK-AILE
EzEstEFTEARD EZBEFAERGRME
Tt RBREFER T -—MBEFERE
EREEZIRAEFHERBAEZEKRE
BREsmunE

41 FEZRERE

FERERBZEFSIREEBEXR
Hllh ZHERERSFEZERG
B st R REBUREERE LM
RERX - EEENRSHRSBHREM
MLEEREREFEZZSME

42 REERGHNKm—FRARELE

4.3

versus agent consideration

The Group applies judgements to determine its role as
goods providers to sell healthcare related products to
the customers. The Group has controlled the healthcare
related products prior to transfer to customers. Therefore,
the Group concluded it is a principal in the transactions.
Consequently, the Group recorded revenue on a gross basis.

Disposal groups reclassified as discontinued

operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group's
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which
represents a separate major line of business. When an
operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount is
presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, which comprises the post-tax profit or loss of
the discontinued operation and the post-tax gain or loss
recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to
sell, or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal groups
constituting the discontinued operation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z

SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the executive directors and senior
management of the Group. The Group's operating businesses
are structured and managed separately according to the nature
of their operations and the services they provide. Each of the
Group’s business segments represents a strategic business unit
that offers services which are subject to risks and returns that are
different from those of the other business segments. The Board
considers the business from a geographical and service/product
perspective.

In accordance with HKFRS 5, the segments of New Zealand,
Australia and Hong Kong business for the year ended 31
December 2023 were presented as discontinued operations in the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

Summary details of the business segments from geographical and
service/product perspective are as follows:

(@) the healthcare segment engages in the sales of healthcare
products;

(b) the margin dealing segment engages in the provision of
leveraged foreign exchange, commodity and index trading
services in Australia, Hong Kong and New Zealand; and

(©) unallocated segment engages in the provision of services
other than margin dealing and healthcare business, and the
operations of the investment holding companies.

As mentioned above, the operating results from the remaining
margin dealing businesses in New Zealand, Australia and Hong
Kong are combined and presented as discontinued operation for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Group has commenced the healthcare business and
established an online store through internationally renowned
online sale platform in 2022. The Group sells the healthcare
products sourced from its suppliers to end-customers and
wholesale customers. The healthcare business was organically
grown and not as result of a business combination.

o o U 5 R B

“HET A=t —HIEFE

DERER S
REDBNEREAANEAOEERRNTES
REREEBRHENABRE —H -5
B EXFHREAESENE KA MR
BoRESREE - SEBETRESD
BB RERBORBEEFTEN > HRE
FiASZERERERARREMEZE DS
EFENMERRE EnRAEZTEE
5 o

RESBMBREERNSSTH  REEZ
T_=—F+ZRA= —1— HiEFEERHE
B BRNREBEZ BN EIERGSR
BRREIDERIEEEEF-

HHE R, E RS E R X5
BB T

(a) REEBHIBUFHERRER

(b) REBEEXZDBMULEBEM FEBR
HMARREEEEXIE - BRAEH
RHRH 5 &

() RPEDHBUSRUEEERZ MF
TL%FLX%E’JHEF UkBEERRA
AINEE

uﬁkﬁuixﬁﬁﬂt P TP RN R B AR

RTREERZEFAM/EEXRENEE
:E:_fﬁ+ A=+—HLEEEAGHK
EIRERIEEEEXRT-

FEBR S _FERRRRER

B RA % BT :'Jii_LT—F'%ﬂF“ 2'&
EEREHERRBENRBRERBEETH
RigFRRHMERR - REXEHB B AT
EMEXEFEHIER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

5 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

Inter-segment transactions, if any, are conducted with reference
to the prices charged to third parties and there was no change in
the basis during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The segment information provided to the management for the
reportable segments for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

DEBERS ()

HBENT S WE) HBRAE =5 WR
MERET EREERBE S -nE
R-SE-=F+_A=+—HLEELE
29 o

BE_T_MNER_T-_=ZF+"A1
=+t—HLEFE MBS oMAEERE
RENDIBERDT !

BE_ZT_NE+-B=+—HLEE

Continuing Discontinued
operations operations
RESEER BALITEER
Healthcare Margin
business Unallocated dealing Total
REEH RAE REERS Mzt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR FHET TR
Segment revenue and other income: AEE R EMMA
Segment revenue from external customers RESMNPE RIS Bz 86,489 - - 86,489
Other income HA 3,220 13,112 - 16,332
Total revenue and other income G Est il N 89,709 13,112 - 102,821
Segment profit PE R 10,207 2,382 - 12,589
Income tax expense iEC2k53 (1,251) - - (1,251)
Profit for the year FERR 8,956 2,382 - 11,338
Other segment information: HitiAEhER
Depreciation & - 310 - 310
Lease payments REfIHR - 346 - 346
Finance cost MEMRE - - - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E —ZE " WF+_F=+—HILFE

5 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 5
For the year ended 31 December 2023

DEBERE ()
BE_T_=-—F+-R=+t—HLFE

Continuing Discontinued
operations operations
TENEER BRILEEER
Healthcare Margin
business Unallocated dealing Total
REEHR RNE RELRS fazt
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR TER TR TR
Segment revenue and other income: AEE R EMMA
Segment revenue from external customers REIMNPE RIS Bz 191,170 - 218 191,388
Other income HtlA 612 7,901 1,587 10,100
Total revenue and other income Gl NS 191,782 7,901 1,805 201,488
Segment profit/(loss) NEEF/ (EB) 13432 1,143 (2,988) 11,587
Income tax expense FERAS (1,745) = = (1,745)
Profit/(loss) for the year FERH/ B 11,687 1,143 (2,988) 9,842
Other segment information: HitAEhER
Depreciation & - - 456 456
Lease payments REMR - 690 233 923
Finance cost MEME - - 1 1

The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group's major
income from external customers is derived from its operations in

ERBHEREB - FEBERBIINBERY
BRARBEREBNEEEXES-

Hong Kong.
2024 2023
—E_MOF —_EFE =

HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ER FHET

Continuing operations FFEREER
Hong Kong 5& 86,489 191,170

Discontinued operations EARIEREE
Hong Kong 58 - 218
86,489 191,388
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z

“HE+ A= HIEFE

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

The locations of its non-current assets are as follows:

DEBERS ()
HIFRBEED MU T :

2024 2023
—EmE B =

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Discontinued operations BARIEREER
Hong Kong 5& - 357
Australia B - 31
- 388

Major customers

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
following external customers contributed more than 10% of the
total revenue of the Group.

IBEEFR

HE-S-_WMER-B_=£+_A4
S+—BIEE UTHBES EREE

B 4B RR BB 10% ©

2024 2023
—E-mE —BI=F

HK$"000 HK$'000

TExT FET

Customer A ZEA 24,557 22,117
Customer B EFB N/A FiEH 28,000
Customer C EREC 10,841 18,221

Information on segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed
as this information is not presented to the Board as they do not
assess performance of reportable segments using information on
assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER INCOME

Other income from continuing operations:

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z

6 HftiA

BEEE

o o U 5 R B

“HET A=t —HIEFE

REEEBEEZHMUWA -

2024 2023
T mE B =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interest income FEUWA 9,282 7,770
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWZE BE MR E 2 W=
equipment 202 -
Net foreign exchange gain P& 52 UK 2 75 BB 6,848 743
16,332 8,513
STAFF COSTS 7 BIMA
2024 2023
T mE —B2=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Staff costs from continuing operations FEREEBELE BT A
(including directors’ remuneration (BIEESME Hat24)) -
(Note 24)):
Salaries, bonus and allowances TETEAT KR, 2,997 1,899
Pension scheme contributions BIREET B 48 35
3,045 1,934
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B U 5 AR A B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

8 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 8 HfthiTEM%
Other operating expenses from continuing operations: FELEXRELS 2 HMKEHRZ @
2024 2023
—EmE =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Auditors’ remuneration TZ BB AN &
— Audit services —EIZARTE 1,558 1,342
— Non-audit services — B LIRS 51 30
Marketing, advertising and promotion MZEE -EEREERY
expenses 12,436 9,876
Professional and consultancy fees BHEREHE 6,133 7,177
Personal postal articles tax EIRYREOR 3,674 3,404
Postage and courier expenses B R IR & B 1,959 3,744
Information services expenses Bl iR 653 521
Storage expenses BHER 520 244
Lease payments under land and building T REF 2 BN (e
(note) 346 690
Bank charges RITER 268 452
Repair and maintenance (including system 41 K4 (BIE R4 4EE)
maintenance) 206 33
Insurance =B 6 591
Others HAth 3,211 351
31,021 28,455
note: The office occupation expenses were included in lease payments Mzt RFIEHARYETALREFZ2HE
under land and building. INE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o U 5 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E —ZE " WF+_F=+—HILFE

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In 2022, the Group had ceased its margin dealing business in
New Zealand and Australia due to future uncertainties in this
business. In 2023, the Group had ceased its remaining margin
dealing business in Hong Kong. The analysis of the results of
discontinued operations is as follows:

BRIEEERR

ST T TF S @R ROR P B RO N Y R
BERXPGEBHREKAEEN  *&EEE
RIEZEB - R_E_=ZF AEEER
LHHREBNBR TREEXZEH - BR
IS EZNEEDTAOT ¢

2023
—EC=fF
HK$'000
FHET

Leverage foreign exchange and BRI B E AN Z U A
other trading income 218
Other income HA A 1,587
Total income A 4858 1,805
Referral expenses and other charges B REMER (113)
Staff costs BT (2,311)
Depreciation — property, plant and equipment ME—E - -BEKREE (456)
Other operating expenses H Sz (1,912)
Total expenses Fsz 48 %8 (4,792)
Operating loss from discontinued operations BRIKREEBEL K EHIR (2,987)
Finance cost =% (1)
Loss before tax from discontinued operations BARIEREXERELE ZFRAIEE (2,988)
Income tax PSR =

Loss for the year from discontinued operations ERIEREEHEEE Y

FERIE (2,988)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B U 5 AR A B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

9 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 9 BRIEEEXRT (&)
Net cash flows from discontinued operations are as follows: BARIEKRSEEMBREMASFEUT !
2023
HK$'000
FHET
Operating cash outflows KERE M (5,042)
Investing cash inflows KEREMA 1,870
Financing cash outflows REIRESME (1
Total cash outflows REmHARER (3.,173)
10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10 FRiGMMAX
Hong Kong profits tax on continuing operations has been TRECEEFELE 2B BNERZE
provided at the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated AT R EFIL16.5% (ZE2E =
assessable profit during the years. Taxation on overseas profits F116.5%) NI KGR EE o BN E A
has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit during NRIEE R FRESTRERR &F U R E
the years at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in REMTEERBIONREGFE - BEEH
which the Group operates. The income tax expenses of the Group ML NE BN AR 28 % K i ¥
are charged at a tax rate of 28% in New Zealand and 30% in 30% (ZEZ=4F : RFEEE28% AN
Australia (2023: 28% in New Zealand and 30% in Australia) in ENIE30% ) IR X EHEMRAES -
accordance with the local tax law.
2024 2023
ZENE BT =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Current tax: BIERRRIE -
Hong Kong income tax ERFSER 1,251 1,745
Income tax expense FrisfiR sz 1,251 1,745
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E _Z _UE+_HB=+—HIEFE
10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10 FRiSHEX @)
2024 2023
—EImEF ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TFET
Profit before income tax from RERESEBEE
continuing operations PRPTISAR AT A 12,589 14,575
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate BEBELERMESHENRIE 2,077 2,405
Tax effect of income not subject to tax EABRBRBANRIBZZ (53,827) (1,539)
Effect of different taxation rate in HT’@E%T EIGES A
other countries 6,391 -
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax  “~ BJH0 752 B sz AY AR TE 52 28 46,482 955
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBEEE - (76)
Utilisation of tax loss B BRIER1E (179) =
Temporary differences not recognised RIER G E2R 36 -
Tax loss not recognised RIERIRIERIE 271 =
Income tax expense TS b2 1,251 1,745
DIVIDENDS 1 KBS
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for EEEFfEBKRNEBEE S OE+=
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). B=t+—HIEEENTMEE E\ (Z8Z=
G o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z

12 PROFIT/(LOSS) PER SHARE

“HE+ A= HIEFE

The calculation of the basic and diluted profit/(loss) per share

attributable to the equity holders of the Company is based on the

following data:

12 SkiaEd (Gi8)

FABDREFEABLESRELRE TG
#/ (B18) v T BB 8

2024 2023
“EOE S

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Profit from continuing operations FEREEBELE 2 mHN 11,338 12,830

Loss from discontinued operations BARIERESEFEE 2 ER - (2,988)
Profit attributable to equity holders KA B RHERFE ARG &R

of the Company 11,338 9,842

No. of shares

No. of shares

Rir& B K& E
Weighted average number of ordinary B TS ERNINETEE
shares in issue 2,033,290,000 2,033,290,000
2024 2023
1222 —=B-=
HK cents HK cents
Al pe=a Il
Basic and diluted profit/(loss) per share SREARE SN, (B18)
(HK cents) B
Continuing operations TSR 0.56 0.63
Discontinued operations BARIEREER - (0.15)
Total basic and diluted profit BRERN R S RF4EE
per share (HK cents) B 0.56 0.48
For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, basic profit/ HEZZ WG KR-ZE=F+"/F=+—

(loss) per share is the same as diluted profit/(loss) per share.

No share option was granted during the years ended 31

December 2024 and 2023. The Company's outstanding share

options have no dilution effect for the years ended 31 December

2024 and 2023 because the exercise price of the Company's

share options were higher than the average market price of the

share for the years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E —ZE " WF+_F=+—HILFE

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 ME -BER=E
Furniture,
fixtures and Computer Leasehold Motor
equipment equipment improvements vehicles Total
R
RERRE Rt fHE%E jat: ®it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TEn TER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZS--E+R=+-ALLEE

Opening net camying amount FREFE 1m 509 164 - 845
Exchange adjustments EREE = (1) = = (1)
Depreciation (Note 9) E (HzH) (51) (290) (115) - (456)
Closing net carrying amount FREATE 121 218 49 - 388
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+"RA=1-H
Cost N 274 1514 346 2,005 4139
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  E3HTERAE (153) (1,296) (297) (2,005) (3751)
Net carrying amount RETE 121 218 49 = 388

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MET_A=t-HILFE

Opening net camying amount EREFE 1P 218 49 - 388
Exchange adjustments ERHZ - (1) - - U]
Depreciation hE (51) (210) (49) - (310)
Closing net carrying amount FREATE 70 7 - - 7
As at 31 December 2024 RZE_ME+-A=1-H
Cost B M 1,482 346 - 2,099
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  EsHTERA(E (201) (1,475) (346) - (2,022
Net carrying amount REFE 70 7 - - 77
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B U 5 AR A B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

14 INVENTORIES 14 #&8
2024 2023
—EomE o=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
Finished goods — merchandise SLALm— I on 34,546 11,916
The cost of goods recognised as cost of sales amounted to BE_Z_ME+_HA=+—HIL-FE
approximately HK$52,454,000 for the year ended 31 December SBAIHE A 2 B S A4 £52,454,00078
2024 (2023: HK$151,077,000). T (CE =4 151,077,000 7T) ©
15 TRADE RECEIVABLES 15 BEBRKRHIEA
2024 2023
—EME —=B_=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Trade receivables B 5 EUIE 37,345 12,979
Less: provision for impairment allowance B R E R (625) -
36,720 12,979
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding AEBRNBREEZEREZNERIIE
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise TWHRIEEEENM UBEREEER
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior womRBIEE T B KRB AL
management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R AR B

15 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z

B 5% BRI (8

“HET A=t —HIEFE

An aging analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice date is REZEAMZEZRNRIEZRE DT
as follows: ZYD"F :

2024 2023

ke 11 - 5 ==

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Current BNER 9,514 5,865

Less than 3 months past due BE DR =@EA 15,480 7,114

3-6 months past due BHA=ZENEA 4,619 =

6-12 months past due BHRETZER 7,732 =

Less: impairment allowance B ORERE (625) -

36,720 12,979

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
expected credit losses which use a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables.

The Group determines the expected loss rates based on the credit
default rates of the trade receivables of these financial assets with
reference to the corresponding credit ratings from internationally
renowned credit rating agencies. The rates are then adjusted
for current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the Group’s customers. The Group has identified
the gross domestic product, unemployment rate and inflation
rate as the key macroeconomic factors in the countries where
the Group operates. HK$625,000 provision was made as at 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

AEBERBEBMBREERFEIRN[HIE
Bt BTRHEERIR AHFAE SR
TIATR A 2 TR R

rEBRBEZSEHMEEZEZRENRE
ZEEENRLSZEHBRNRE SRR
BEENEEREETIREERPABIER

BEREEEAERZERPNRBLER
ENEARAETEENEZELERES

RE-AEBEREANEER

BENKREXR

EEREREREEAANEBXERMERR
HEBLRBEKCERNZ - R _Z_WE+_
B=+—H > A&EBEFHE#625,0008 T

(ZFZ=F18])-

BEZRERENREBREFESHUT

2024 2023

—ENEF BT =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAET
At beginning of year FE4]) - il
Impairment losses BERE 625 e
At end of year FR 625 o

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED % " JU4EH#;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B U 5 AR A B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

15 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 15 B S EWFIE (&)

Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

BEZRERERNTEBEE :

2024 2023

—E_OF 2=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
HK$ BT 28,607 4,167
RMB AEHE 6,667 8,812
Us$ E7T 1,446 =
36,720 12,979

All trade receivables carrying amounts approximate to their fair

FREEZBUGRENREEEZE A A EHR

values. o
16 OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 16 HEWERIE B RERES
DEPOSITS
2024 2023
—EINEF ==

HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TFET
Interest receivables FEWH 2 947 902
Prepayments TAfTIR 551 1,771
Other receivables HEWERIE 141 145
Rental and utility deposits HE RN BRIEEE 41 41
Right-of-return assets BREREE 23 55
Total 4Est 1,703 2,914

The carrying amounts of the other receivables and deposits

approximate to their fair values. EE=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o U 5 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E _Z _UE+_HB=+—HIEFE

CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND CLIENT TRUST
BANK BALANCES

17

RERRITEFURE P EHIRITER

2024 2023

kol 111 -3 B =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash and bank balances BE KR IRIT4E R 9,353 33,766
Fixed deposits with banks RITEEER 195,818 188,620
Client trust bank balances = RE5EiIR1TAS R 1,165 1,188
206,336 223,574

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprises of the following:

MGaRERERME  ReEhREeFE
MEREUTRIE:

2024 2023
T mE ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Cash and bank balances B KMIRITESER 9,353 33,766
Fixed deposits with bank with original FEITR=EA RN
maturity within three months IRITERER 195,818 188,620
205,171 222,386
DEFERRED TAXATION 18 RIEFIE

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset on an individual entity
basis when there is a legal right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxation
relates to the same authority.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has estimated unused
tax losses of approximately HK$192,165,000 (2023:
HK$191,528,000) which were available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the estimated tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. All amount of estimated tax losses have no expiry
date.

EREATERT DR IEE E 4 B H
MIBBERIEE > MELERIED KE— %S
B> BURT R E B AABEIEIRIREERE
(EEAT

A ZENF+ZBA=+—H &~&EEA
HER LIRS R R M ALt R EBARIE
B84 73192,165,0008 T (B - =4 :
191,528,000/ 7T) ° H K 2K i@ F 7 B9 A
B FERI M AN EE N E R AR TS B R
RIEIEMIBEE -FTEMIRIBEIESE
HEEmEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z

“HE+ A= HIEFE

19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19 B KRHMEMNRIE
2024 2023
—E-mE o=
notes HK$'000 HK$'000
&t FAET FET
Trade payables B ERIE (b) 28,606 6,536
Accrued audit fees FEStETER 1,400 1,405
Other accruals HitpEst &R 796 604
Refund liabilities BREE 52 141
Contract liabilities BHEE - 216
Other payables HEARIE 7 7
@) 30,861 8,909
notes: BaE -
(@) The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other payables (@) AEEESREMEMTIENREEREA
approximate to their fair values. EEE
(b)  The credit terms of merchandise payables granted by the suppliers by HEBEFZERECHREZEERERE
are usually current to 90 days. At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the REEEOH R E_MNER_ZT=
aging analysis of the merchandise payables based on invoice date is +ZA=+—H EREEAHZEREN
as follows: MIEZ BRE DU ©
2024 2023
—EImE TET=HF
HK$"000 HK$'000
FRT FHET
30 to 90 days 30ZF90H 28,606 6,536
20 CLIENTS’ BALANCES 20 ER&ER
The balances represent margin deposits received from clients ZEGBRIEN EREBAEPRIERHN
and the realised profit or loss from their trading activities under 1? HEFAABEENRZ EHNEE IR

normal course of business. The majority of the clients’ balances
are repayable on demand except for certain balance represent
margin deposit required for the outstanding derivative contracts.
The balances are non-interest bearing. The carrying amounts

approximate to their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z

21 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a)

Share capital

(b)

o o U 5 R B

“HET A=t —HIEFE

21 AR f#E
g7

(a)

31 December 2024

31 December 2023

—E_mE+-A=1+-H “EC=H+A=+—H
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
Ri¥E THT ftn & E FTAET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of EREE0.01ETZ
HK$0.01 each EEk 4,000,000,000 40,000  4,000,000,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE .
At beginning and end of INTELEDINEN
the reporting period 2,033,290,000 20,333 2,033,290,000 20,333

note: As at the date hereof, the Company does not hold any
treasury shares (whether in the Central Clearing and
Settlement System, or otherwise).

Reserves

Reserves includes capital reserves which represents the
difference between the book value of the net assets of CA
Premium New Zealand Limited (formerly known as CLSA
Premium New Zealand Limited, w.e.f. 28 February 2025),
CA Premium Pty Limited (formerly known as CLSA Premium
Pty Limited, w.e.f. 28 February 2025) and CA Premium
International (HK) Limited (formerly known as CLSA
K) Limited, w.e.f. 7 March 2025)

over the par value of the shares issued in exchange for these

Premium International (H

subsidiaries as part of the reorganisation completed in 2012.

HiEE R AERS B A AT CRAR T
REGRTWRRR UM R) 35
BAEEERS

f#

(b)

RECEERMEE  5CA Premium
New Zealand Limited (RI#8CLSA
Premium New Zealand Limited> B
“ETREZAZFNABREER
CA Premium Pty Limited (BI#BCLSA
Premium Pty Limited - B-ZE_HF
“AZHN\HEEM KCA Premium
K) Limited (FT#BCLSA
Premium International (HK) Limited >
BE-_ZE_AF=-BAtHARBRER EE
AENRAEEAFANR S -7
RN EA—FDAURBRZERBEA
BME TR M EENERE-

International (H
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22 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 22 March 2018, the Company granted 40,000,000 share
options to 82 individuals (the “2018 Grantees”) for their
subscription of new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the
Company’s share capital.

These share options were exercisable at HK$0.495 per share,
with varying vesting period and validity from the date of grant.
37 out of 82 of the 2018 Grantees were granted share options
which were exercisable for a period of three years commencing
on the date of grant to 21 March 2021. 11 out of 82 of the 2018
Grantees were granted share options which were exercisable for a
period of three years commencing on the date falling on the first
anniversary of the date of grant to 21 March 2022, with a vesting
period of one year from the date of grant. The remaining 34 of
the 2018 Grantees were granted options which are exercisable
for a period of two years commencing on the date falling on the
second anniversary of the date of grant to 21 March 2022, with
a vesting period of two years from the date of grant. Among the
40,000,000 share options granted, 12,200,000 share options
were granted to the Company’s directors and chief executives.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase
or settle the options in cash.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B U 5 AR A B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z

22 BBRGHEETE

A ZE-NF=ZBZ+ZH ARTIM
28T (ZTZE—N\EEEA)) BH
40,000,00017 & fG 1 > HIE ERHEA R F
BATERREE.OB T Z @R -

ZEBRETEERKRKH0.4958 T E
BEUTE BREBHESNEBHA R
EWMEABR o828 T — \FERZ AR
N372EXTFAIRFELBEREFSEZS
T =BT+ —HALE=FZHBEAIT
BB E - Z2L T — \FEEAF
N2 ERTFTAIRELBHR—BFER
st E_SE__F=ZB_+—HAIL=
FZHBARNTEZEBRE BEHEAHE
HEBHES —F R T&34dBZE—NE
ERAERTFTOREHEHMBFEHE
HEERE__FZAZ+—HALEME
ZHBERTE2ERE BEHAAEEY
HEA#E 5T M & © B % H #Y40,000,00017 B8
KREFR RABEERRETHRABER
12,200,00017 BB RR#E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z

22 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

There is no outstanding share options during the year ended 31
December 2023.

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used to estimate
the fair value of the options. The variables and assumptions used
in computing the fair value of the share options are based on
the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions. Details of the
share options granted on 22 March 2018 were as follows:

Weighted average share option

price at the grant date: HK$0.1735
Risk free interest rate: 1.668%
Expected volatility: 56.39%

Expected dividend yield: 0%
Expected exercise multiple: Directors: 2.8x exercise price

Others: 2.2x exercise price

The measurement date of the share options was 22 March
2018, being the date of grant of the share options. The
expected dividend yield is determined with reference to historical
dividend payment history of comparable listed companies up
to the measurement date. The expected volatility of share price
is determined with reference to annualised historical weekly
volatility of comparable listed companies’ share prices as of the
valuation date, as extracted from Bloomberg.

No share option expenses were recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the year ended 31
December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, there is no exercisable share options
granted. Under the 2013 share options scheme which expired on
1 July 2023, no more share options could be granted on or after
2 July 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

23 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Statement of Financial Position of the Company

23 KRB ZMBRARKFEES

FAB ZMBIRRER

As at 31 December

®w+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—TmE = 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
ASSET BE
Non-current asset EREMEBE
Investments in subsidiaries (Note 25) R B AR ZRE (Hfa225) 219,345 236,002
Total non-current asset ERBEEEE 219,345 236,002
Current assets RBEE
Cash and bank balances HE MIRTTAE R 154,412 149,952
Amounts due from subsidiaries R B AT Z I8 28,073 29,737
Prepayments AT RIE 1,058 1,227
Total current assets MENEEMEE 183,543 180,916
Total assets BEMRE 402,888 416,918
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EmkaE
Share capital [N 20,333 20,333
Reserves (note (a)) & Hata@) 180,494 180,494
Accumulated losses (note (a)) REtE1E (WaEE) (104,117) (104,308)
Total equity g k] 96,710 96,519
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Sr o B 55 R B R
For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E _Z _UE+_HB=+—HIEFE
23 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 23 FARZMBRRARRFEES &)
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
Statement of Financial Position of the Company EATZIHBRRE (B
(continued)

As at 31 December

R+—HA=+—H

2024 2023
—EINEF ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Current liabilities mENEE

Amounts due to subsidiaries NN =] 304,510 319,143
Other payables and accrued liabilities HENRIBERETAE 1,668 1,256
Total current liabilities mENB(ELEEE 306,178 320,399
Total liabilities BEHEER 306,178 320,399
Total equity and liabilities HETRAER 402,888 416,918
The statement of financial position of the Company was KRB ZMBRARKEZEGN _ZE A
approved by the Board on 17 March 2025 and was signed on its FEZB+tHMLETHUTESTRKASE

behalf.

Yuan Feng

RIZ

ZEo

Chung Cheuk Fan Marco
EEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z

23 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

“mEFCB=t—BLERE

RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Statement of Financial Position of the Company ERBZMBRAR (H

(continued)

note (a) — Reserves movement of the Company

W2t (a)— A AB) 2 (HEEH

23 KRB ZMBRARKEEES (@)

Accumulated

Reserves losses

i REtE5iE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT Tt
As at 1 January 2023 WZEZ=%—H—H 180,494 (97,312)
Loss for the year FEEE - (6,996)
As at 31 December 2023 RIE-_=F#+"A=+—H 180,494 (104,308)
As at 1 January 2024 RZEZME—HF—H 180,494 (104,308)
Profit for the year FERF - 191
As at 31 December 2024 RIEZME+Z"“HA=+—H 180,494 (104,117)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

EMOLUMENTS

o o U 5 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E —ZE " WF+_F=+—HILFE

(a) Directors’ emoluments

24 EEREREEENME

Emoluments paid/payable to the Company’s directors by

the Group during the years ended 31 December 2024 and

2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

(a) EFME
AERHE_ZE_NEE_E-=
+_BA=+—HLEEFEEREARATES
ST/ AR o

BE_Z_MNE+-_HA=+—HIL
FE

Employer's
Salary contribution Discretionary
Director and  to pension honuses
fee  commission scheme (note (a)) Total
ek  EIBHE RBIEA
Name of director EEiy ik A& HEEE (M) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TR TR FAT FAT
Executive Directors: RITES:
Mr. Yuan Feng RERE - 590 - - 590
Mr. Chung Cheuk Fan Marco BEE Tt 240 - - - 240
Non-executive Directors:  JFH{TEE
Mr. Li Jiong THEEE - - - - -
Mr. Xu Jiangiang STEREE - - - - -
Independent non-executive BUFHTEE
Directors:
Mr. Wu Jianfeng BRl#EE 240 - - - 240
Ms. Hu Zhaoxia HEEL T 240 - - - 240
Mr. Ma Xufei BEREE 53 - - - 53
Mr. Ma Anyang Ry 187 - - - 187
960 590 - - 1,550
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24 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

24 EERESREEBNME @)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B U 5 AR A B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

(a) EXM= (@)

HE _ S _=—#+"HB=+—HI1

FE
Employer's
Salary contribution ~ Discretionary
Director and to pension bonuses
fee commission scheme (note (a)) Total
HER BERINE KRTEAL
Name of director EEL Yok i st (Mizka) )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TET TEL TEL TAL
Executive Directors: BES:
M. Yuan Feng mEBEE 60 790 - - 850
Mr. Chung Cheuk Fan Marco BEELE 240 - - - 240
Non-executive Directors:  JEHI{7ES:
M. Li Jiong ZEEE 30 - - - 30
M. Xu Jiangiang SRR 30 - - - 30
Independent non-executive BiFHITES
Directors:
Mr. Wu Jianfeng RalBks 240 - - - 240
Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield ~ Christopher Wesley Satterfield %4 60 - - - 60
Ms. Hu Zhaoxia B 240 - - - 240
M. Ma Xufel FHEREL 180 - - - 180
1,080 790 - - 1,870
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R AR B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E _Z _UE+_HB=+—HIEFE

24 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

24 EERESREERNMNE &)

(a) EXM= (@)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

On 10 March 2023, the Company received notices from Mr.
Li Jiong, Mr. Xu Jiangiang and Mr. Yuan Feng accordingly for
waiving the director’s fee (the director’s fee for Mr. Li Jiong
and Mr. Xu liangiang both are HK$120,000 for each year
and for Mr. Yuan Feng is HK$20,000 per month) with effect
from 1 April 2023 till the termination of the appointment as
the Company's non-Executive Director/Executive Director.

Save as disclosed, during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, no directors of the Group waived any
emoluments and no emolument was paid to any of the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

note (a). Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled
to discretionary bonus payments which are determined
with reference to the Group’s operating results, individual

A _EZ=F=RF+H > &xAFDHI
WEIZEELE FRALERRIES
EHBEN ABREMBEZZ =41
B—HEREWRNESHEE (AL
ERTRBETENEZVSHASE
120,000 Tk R IE L EMESHE
#8H20,00087m) c EERIEEME
RABFERITEES HITEEALL-

BREXPIIBEN BE_T_IF
R_EB_=ZF+"RA=+—HL%E
E BEAEEEENETAME
EffEREANESZAMEFESMA
7= &= B B 00 A BRF B9 22 B 30 1F 7 R T

&

Miit@): mRBDETHTESFTETAENIBT
ARE AEMEND2EEALRE
EHRERE - EENEARER

performance of the directors and relevant market statistics RIS ATER MEE
during the year.
2024 2023
—EINEF —ET=HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Emoluments paid or receivable in MEANRBRTES (R s
respect of a person’s services as REMBAE) WRFB MBI
a director, whether of the company FEW R BN <&
or its subsidiary undertaking 9260 1,080
Emoluments paid or receivable in MERREEERRREMNBE AT
respect of director’s other services in = E M HEMRFE M EI S EUR
connection with the management BIEN =
of the affairs of the company or
its subsidiary undertaking 590 790
1,550 1,870
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R b

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z

24 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

“HE+ A= HIEFE

24 EEREREERNME &)

(b) FARmESHAL

The five highest paid employees during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 included one director, details of
whose remuneration are set out in Note 24(a) above. Details
of the remuneration of the remaining non-directors, highest
paid employees during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023 are as follows:

BE_Z_NEAR_T_=F+_AH
=+t HLEEFE IREsHEES
BE—REF HNEsFBE N LM
H24(a) HERFEE RS FHEENE
ECRMERE_=ZF+_HA
=+—BLEEENMEFBEEI W
Tk

2024 2023
—EOmE .
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salary and commission HERAE 1,380 1,748
1,380 1,748

No emoluments have been paid to these individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

The emoluments of the highest-paid individuals of the
Group other than the directors fall within the following
bands:

BE_Z_NEAR_T-_=ZF+_H
=t+t—HLEFE #BERAZFALX
19 B <2 1F 23 00 A 7 52 B 30 A0 A Ry 9 22
By U E 7 B (8 o

rEBRSHAL GRESFIN BIBNE
BRI -

2024 2023
—EmE . ——
Emolument bands i & 2
— HK$0 to HK$ 1,000,000 — 0/ 7521,000,00078 7T 4 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o U 5 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E _Z _UE+_HB=+—HIEFE

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARY

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had direct and indirect
interests in the following principal subsidiary:

25 FEMBRA

R TECME+ZRBR=+—RH " FRFARN
T ETENBRAEEEEREkEEER !

Particulars
of issued Equity
Place of incorporation Principal activities share capitall  interest
Company name and kind of legal entity and place of operation paid-in capital held
BEfTks/
GRS SRR AR R RER TEEBRCEM BERTHE FHENRE
CLSA Premium Bullion Limited Hong Kong, Provision of healthcare products HK$1,000,000 100%
limited liability company trading services, Hong Kong (direct)
&8 RURRERRSRE &4 1,000,0003 7T 100%
BREFAH (B8

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,
directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial and
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if
they are subject to common control.

For the outstanding balance due from or to related parties, net
amount is presented when the Group has a legally enforceable
right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends to settle on a
net basis.

H—AAENEERABFENS —HHE
MBEREERREH S —HHEBEEATE

CELHEBARB -2 X HAFERE
TR B A R Bk

FLEE U ST RR B S BY RGBS RR T S
EXEEERAGFAHIKRHEHER TR
WHRIZFRBEEGEER 2T FE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B U 5 AR A B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE —E_WF+_F=+—HILFE

26 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(continued)

(a)

(b)

The Group had the following material transactions with its

26 RAMKARHRESER (B)

(a) AEERFREHBMERET N

related entities during the year: BEARRXS .

2024 2023
notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 TET FAET

Transactions with related BB AEITHRS

parties
Amount paid for the provision of BT A BT e 4

software maintenance, upgrade TR TR RFSHIRRIE

and support services from:

— other related party —H At AR5 (1) 30 33
Amount paid for the provision of BT RABZIREEIERTS

management services from: HIFRIE -

— other related party — EL A Bt (i) 346 690
notes: Myat

@

(ii)

(iii)

Amounts are paid for the provision of software maintenance,
upgrade and support services based on the terms on
agreement signed between parties.

Amounts are paid for the sharing of the offices and
subscription of the office services based on the agreement
signed between parties.

On 4 December 2023, the Company and CLSA Limited, a
fellow subsidiary of the Company, had entered into a services
agreement for subscription of the information technology
services, and on 12 April 2024, the Company and CSI had
entered into a business services agreement for subscription of
the office services at the Company’s head office and principal
place of business in Hong Kong. Pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of
the Listing Rules, the transactions in relation to the services
agreements as mentioned above are fully exempted from the
requirements to obtains shareholders’ approval, annual review
and all disclosure requirements.

Key management includes directors (executive & non-
executive) and the remuneration of the key management
personnel of the Group are disclosed in Note 24.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z

COMMITMENTS

Operating lease commitments

As lessee

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments in respect of an
office under non-cancellable lease within one year as follows:

27

o o U 5 R B

“HET A=t —HIEFE

i

RERERE

1ERBEEA

SR AEE AR —F R BEE
WEEETERAMRAENARREBEEEN
ORI

2024 2023

—TmE S

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within one year —FR 115 115

Capital commitments

There is no capital commitment for the Group as at 31 December
2024 and 2023.

LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent liabilities from litigation with Banclogix
System Co., Limited

On 6 May 2020, the Company received a writ of summons
together with an endorsement of claim dated 6 May 2020 issued
in the High Court of The Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region by Banclogix System Co., Limited (“Banclogix”, the
Group’s then IT service provider) against the Company and
claims (i) that the termination of the IT service agreement by
the Company was wrongful; (i) alleged termination payment
of HK$2.5 million, software maintenance fee of approximately
HK$450,000 and IT infrastructure fee of HK$1.5 million; and (ii)
alleged loss and damages to be assessed. The Company has been
contesting the claims made by Banclogix.

The above-mentioned proceedings were heard together with the
High Court legal action started in 2019 by the Company (joined
subsequently by its three licensed subsidiaries as plaintiffs) against
Banclogix claiming for, among others, repudiatory breach of the
IT service agreement by Banclogix; return of the plaintiffs’ data,
costs and damages. The Company and Banclogix had a mediation
on 23 June 2021. The parties did not reach an agreement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B U 5 AR A B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z

28

29

30

LITIGATION AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

Contingent liabilities from litigation with Banclogix

System Co., Limited (continued)

These two legal proceedings with Banclogix are still ongoing at
the end of the reporting period and as at the date of this report,
and the court hearing has been fixed for January 2026. While
the outcome and the potential financial impact are subject to
uncertainties and are not practically able to be estimated, the
Company's directors consider that no provision is required at this
stage of the proceedings as the legal adviser of the Company is
cautiously optimistic about the outcome of the two cases with
Banclogix.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 18 February 2025, Beijing Tong Ren Tang (Cayman) Limited
became the Company’s shareholder holding of 40% of the
issued shares of the Company and CITIC Securities International
Company Limited became the Company’s shareholder holding of
19.03% of the issued shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed, the Directors are not aware of any significant
event requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this report.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the Board on 17 March 2025.
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CLSA Premium Limited

(RESHBIFMA T2 HERAE)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
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